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To the memory of the tens of thousands of Soviet and German soldiers
who fought and died in or survived the terrible carnage of this operation,

only to be forgotten by history.
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Introduction

On 19 November 1942, Red Army forces struck a massive blow at Stalingrad
against the hitherto triumphant German Army. Within the course of a single
week, Soviet forces had encircled German Sixth Army, one of the Wehrmacht's
most vaunted armies, within the deadly Stalingrad cauldron. Just over two
months later, the tattered remnants of that once proud German army and a
host of allied forces perished in what has come to be known as one of the
most famous battles of the German-Soviet war.

History informs us that the titanic Battle of Stalingrad altered the course
of the war on the Eastern Front and set the German Army and German Reich
on an inexorable course toward utter and humiliating defeat. History has
also anointed the victors of Stalingrad with enduring fame. The Red Army
emerged from the Battle of Stalingrad a force that seemingly never again
suffered strategic or significant operational defeat. The supposed architects
of the Stalingrad victory entered the annals of military history as unvanquished
heroes who led the subsequent largely unblemished Soviet march to victory.
Foremost among those military heroes stands the imposing figure of Mar-
shal of the Soviet Union Georgi Konstantinovich Zhukov, the hero of Mos-
cow, Stalingrad, Kursk, and Berlin.

History, however, often misinforms us. The muses of history are fickle.
They record only what is reported and often ignore what is not. The lasting
adage, "To the victors belong the spoils of war," is correct. Clearly, history is
one of those spoils. Nowhere is this truth more evident than in the case of
the war on the Eastern Front. The history of the German-Soviet war to late
1942 has been German military history because it was primarily the Germans
who proudly recounted its course and nature. Conversely, the history of the
war after late 1942 has been Soviet history because the victors earned the
right to describe their victories. These have been, and remain, the historical
realities of the war on the Eastern Front.

The very names "Moscow," "Stalingrad," "Kursk," "Belorussia," and "Ber-
lin" evoke images of grandiose Soviet victories. However, these magnificent
victorious battles have, in turn, tended to pervert the history of the war on
the Eastern Front by masking numerous failures and defeats, which quite
naturally punctuated the Red Army's march to ultimate victory and fame.
Likewise, they have accentuated the reputations of commanders to almost
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superhuman proportions, causing readers to forget the fact that, after all, these
leaders were human beings who shared liberally the faults so obvious in every
human.

This volume initiates a long and painstaking process to correct the his-
tory ofthat most terrible war by providing necessary context to those famous
victories which have long been recorded and extolled. Essentially, this pro-
cess is an impartial one, for as much has been forgotten about the period of
German victory before late 1942 as was forgotten about the Soviet triumphant
march after late 1942. This process also restores humanity, a human face, and
human failings to those to whom war has accorded lasting fame.

The subject of this volume is the most glaring instance where history has
failed us, the forgotten Soviet Operation Mars. Operation Mars, planned for
October 1942 and conducted in late November, was the companion piece of
Operation Uranus, the code name for the Soviet Stalingrad strategic counter-
offensive. Taken together, the twin strategic operations, significantly named for
the gods, represented the Red Army's effort to regain the strategic initiative on
the Eastern Front and to begin a long march to total victory over the German
Wehrmacht and Nazi Germany. Planned, orchestrated, and directed by Mar-
shal Zhukov, Operation Mars, appropriately named for the god of war, was the
centerpiece of Soviet strategic efforts in fall 1942. By virtue of its scale and in-
tent, strategically, Operation Mars was at least as important as Operation Ura-
nus. In its fickleness, however, history has forgotten Operation Mars because it
failed and extolled Operation Uranus because it succeeded. In short, the suc-
cessful wrote the histories and naturally emphasized their successes, while the
defeated found it difficult to write credibly of the victories they achieved in the
humiliating process of being defeated.

Sufficient German and Soviet archival materials are now available to re-
construct the factual historical framework of Operation Mars within the con-
text of the momentous events and shift in strategic military fortunes that took
place on the German Eastern Front in fall 1942. These archival materials,
German and Soviet alike, provide the factual backbone of this volume. By
exploiting these materials, we can now reconstruct an accurate picture of what
took place, when, where, on what scale, and, to a slightly lesser extent, why.
The only major gap still to be filled is the human dimension of the struggle.
Here I have relied on existing memoirs, which are often inaccurate, and my
own understanding of the war and those who fought in it to reconstruct the
thoughts, hopes, and dilemmas faced by those who led, fought, and died in
the operation. For example, we now have the benefit of Zhukov's war itiner-
ary to reconstruct where he was located and when throughout the war and
sufficient archival materials to challenge the factual basis and content of large
segments of his memoirs. By studying where he was throughout the war and
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what his forces did throughout his tenure in command, we can now correct
many of the inaccuracies and inconsistencies in his memoirs.

I have reconstructed the course, scope, and intent of Operation Mars based
on sound archival sources, and I have inferred larger aspects of the Soviet fall
1942 strategic plan, in particular, the plan for Operation Jupiter, on the basis of
partial archival evidence. The decisions, actions, personalities, motivations, and
undocumented conversations and thoughts of the commanders, however, are
based on archival materials to a markedly lesser extent. They reflect my subjec-
tive understanding of the operations and men, in some instances from their
own accounts and, more often, based on their previous or subsequent actions
or ultimate fate. This historical license on my part, however, in no way alters
or detracts from the factual accuracy of what did occur in Operation Mars and
why.

I give special thanks in the preparation of this volume to my daughter,
Mary Elizabeth Glantz, who translated voluminous German archival materi-
als for me, and to my wife, Mary Ann, who painstakingly proofed and edited
the draft manuscript. I alone am responsible for any and all errors.





CHAPTER 1

Prelude

TO STALINGRAD: THE WEHRMACHT AND OPERATION BLAU

OKH Headquarters, Vinnitsa, Ukraine, 25 July 1942

Adolf Hitler's decision to shift his Fuehrer Headquarters to Vinnitsa in the
western Ukraine was not an altogether welcome event for those who -were
directing the German war effort on the Eastern Front from the grimy Ukrai-
nian city. In particular, Chief of German Army General Staff Franz Haider,
who for weeks had been arguing with Hitler over the niceties of German
military strategy in the East, would now have to contend directly with Hitler's
imposing presence. Haider knew that, inevitably, this meant bowing to the
Fuehrer's vaunted will.1

As chief of the General Staff and titular head of the German Army High
Command (Oberkommando das Heere, or OKH), Haider had chosen the dusty
and now downright hot Ukrainian city as the best location from which to con-
trol this, the second major attempt to defeat the Red Army and drive the
Soviet Union from the war. To all appearances, by late July the choice of
Vinnitsa seemed to have been propitious for, prior to the Fuehrer's arrival,
German arms had once again been blessed with unprecedented good fortune.
Haider well recalled, however, how similar German success a year before had
been dashed at Moscow, in part, he believed, because Hitler had interfered
with strategic planning and the day-to-day conduct of operations. Haider
dreaded his renewed interference, lest history should repeat itself in 1942.

In late July there was little reason to assume it would. Driven by the false
presumption that the German summer offensive would occur in the north
against Soviet forces defending Moscow, the Russians themselves, thought
Haider, had paved the way for German success by squandering over 250,000
men and immense amounts of equipment in a futile mid-May offensive south
of Khar'kov.2 The sudden Soviet offensive, which was originally diversionary
in nature and designed to exploit perceived German weakness in the south,
had caught the German command by surprise. Nevertheless, quick-thinking
and fleet-footed German commanders had reacted with customary efficiency.
They had parried the clumsy Soviet effort and annihilated the bulk of the
attacking Red Army force. In fact, by attacking into the very teeth of the mighty
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host, which the Germans had been secretly assembling for their new spring
and summer advance across southern Russia, the Soviets had invited inevi-
table defeat and conditioned success for subsequent German operations in
southern Russia.

After their spectacular victory at Khar'kov, on 28 June 1942, German
forces, operating within the parameters of newly formulated Operation Blau,
commenced a spectacular advance eastward.3 Replicating their unprec-
edented Barbarossa offensive of summer 1941, German armored and motor-
ized spearheads swept relentlessly across the steppes of southern Russia from
the Kursk region to the northern Donbas, with seemingly endless columns
of German, Hungarian, and Italian infantrymen trailing in their wake. The
headlong advance rent the Soviet front in two, brushed aside pesky but often
still clumsy Soviet counterattacks, and within days reached the wide Don River
near Voronezh, Spilling southeastward between the rivers Don and Northern
Donets, the armored columns of German Fourth and First Panzer Armies
raced unfettered into the great bend of the Don, while other armies pressed
Soviet forces back toward Rostov (see Map 1).

Despite this clear offensive success, Haider was uneasy, and not just be-
cause of Hitler's arrival at the front. Unlike 1941, Soviet forces had melted
away before the advancing German tide, and the expected encirclements of
tens of thousands of massed Russian infantry had not materialized. Even the
pockets formed near Millerovo and north of Rostov had produced only mea-
ger yields. Even more unsettling to Haider and more damaging to the care-
fully orchestrated German plan, it seemed likely that the precipitous advance
would encourage Hitler, who was, as ever, preoccupied as much with occu-
pying space and capturing resources as he was with destroying enemy armies.
Haider, who from the very beginning had recoiled from the prospects of
launching German armies willy-nilly into the endless spaces of southern Rus-
sia, could only imagine where Hitler's insatiable appetite would now propel
German forces. In fact, the very day Hitler moved into his new headquarters,
he issued Directive 43 for Operation Bluecher, which ordered General Erich
von Manstein's Eleventh Army on the Crimean Peninsula to cross the Kerch
Straits onto the Taman Peninsula even before the besieged Russian city of
Sevastopol' had fallen.4 This made it abundantly clear that Hitler was already
listening to the siren call of the Caucasus and their rich economic booty.

Haider well understood the original strategic and operational intent of
Operation Blau. The original operational plan called for a three-phase opera-
tion. During the first phase, German forces were to destroy Soviet armies
defending forward of Voronezh on the Don River. In phase two they were to
advance southeastward along the southern bank of the Don into the Millerovo
region to begin the encirclement of Soviet forces in the eastern Donets Basin,
or Donbas. Finally, in phase three, they would exploit to seize Rostov, the
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great Don River berid, and the prize of Stalingrad on the Volga River. Once
Stalingrad had fallen, the directive implied that German forces would subse-
quently drive into the Caucasus, but it did not describe the precise nature of
that advance. Inherent in Operation Blau was the assumption that the Red
Army would be decimated in repeated German encirclements. By 25 July it
was clear that this had not and would not occur.

It was also clear to all at the Vinnitsa headquarters that German successes
had set Hitler's mind and imagination into frenzied motion. Heated discussions
in OKH headquarters and the new Fuehrer headquarters produced a flurry of
new and altered orders. In Hitler's view, these exploited new opportunities,
but to Haider and many other German generals they perverted the original
intent, future prospects, and perhaps the ultimate fate of Operation Blau. The
most significant of these new orders was Directive 45, which was simply en-
titled "For the Continuation of Operation Braunschweig [Blau]."5 Assuming
that the principal objective of Operation Blau, the "conclusive destruction of
Soviet defensive strength," had been accomplished, the directive required that
a fourth phase of Blau, an advance into the Caucasus, code-named Operation
Edelweiss, be conducted simultaneously with the assault on Stalingrad.

What seemed to Hitler to be the exploitation of opportunity and good for-
tune was far more foreboding to Haider and the General Staff. Now, insteado
of concentrating the full offensive strength of the newly formed German Army
Groups A and B on the seizure of Stalingrad as was called for by the original
plan, Hitler required that the two army groups advance simultaneously toward
Stalingrad and into the Caucasus along distinctly diverging axes. As German
Sixth Army struggled to overcome logistical problems as it spearheaded Army
Group B's advance on Stalingrad and Hitler fretted over the army's slow
progress, Haider "confided to his diary that there was 'intolerable grumbling'
over mistakes the Fuehrer had provoked by his own previous orders."6

However, the events unfolding in late July and the decisions being made
in German headquarters complexes in Vinnitsa and in forward German armies
were only mildly unsettling, for they took place within a context of unre-
strained hope and spectacular military victories. A thousand miles away, in
Moscow, Hitler's adversary, Stalin, pondered developments from a far more
sobering perspective.

HALTING THE GERMAN JUGGERNAUT:
NOT A STEP BACK

Stavka (Headquarters, Supreme High Command), Moscow,
the Kremlin, 28 July 1942

The Generalissimo was irate. More than ten years of intrigue and ruthless
triumph over his internal political opponents, an equally long record dealing
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with treacherous foreign leaders, and even a year of humiliating military de-
feats at the hands of the foreign leader whom he thought he best understood
had not prepared losif Vissarionovich Stalin for the ignominies his armies had
suffered during the recent spring and summer. Hitler had betrayed him in
June 1941 by launching Operation Barbarossa, and even the knowledge that
he himself might have unleashed war against Hitler in 1942 did not assuage
his lingering hatred for the impetuous German, who, Stalin grudgingly ad-
mitted, was so much like himself. In the wake ofthat betrayal, Soviet armies
had suffered immense losses and traded extensive territories to gain the time
needed to amass the military force required to halt the German offensive and
reverse Soviet military fortunes. In the end, thought Stalin, it was Hitler's
impetuosity that would doom both him and the German Army to defeat.

By late 1941 Hitler's impetuosity had propelled now threadbare German
armies to the outskirts of Leningrad, Moscow, and Rostov. There, plentiful
Soviet reserves, led by iron-willed and ruthless Soviet commanders who were
willing to sacrifice themselves and their men to the Soviet cause, brought the
German advance to an end and nearly converted Soviet tactical and opera-
tional victories into German strategic rout. Stalin shuddered imperceptibly
as he remembered how near total victory had been. "How then," he thought,
"could those winter victories have been followed this spring and summer with
new catastrophic Soviet defeats? What went wrong? Who was to blame?
Should I have listened to the advice of others who told me to bide my time,
fortify my defensive positions, wait to repel the German attack, and then
strike? Should I have listened more closely to Zhukov, Shaposhnikov, Vasilev-
sky, and others?"

Introspection was uncharacteristic of Stalin. Too much deep thought,
questioning, and self-doubt, he believed, undercut one's instinct and will and
one's ability to prevail. Shedding the momentary impulse toward weakness,
he took a deep draft on his ubiquitous pipe and answered his own fleeting
questions. "No! I was right. Although the Germans did not attack where we
expected, and Marshal Timoshenko's offensive in the south failed, Hitler's
impetuosity," he concluded, "has once again prevailed. He has chosen a path
that leads nowhere but to overextension and defeat. That defeat may take
place along the Don, in the Caucasus, at Moscow, or in all three locations.
What is clear, however, is that a stubborn and determined Red Army will
prevail. It is just a matter of time."

Thought behind him, Stalin peered down at the draft Order No. 227,
which was lying on his desk, and in particular at the end of a paragraph whose
words leapt from the paper, forming a slogan that would live in history: "Not
a step back [Ni shagu nazad]! Such must be our higher purpose now."7 The
ruthless fine print accompanying the bold slogan, which had long been char-
acteristic of Stalin's harsh leadership, gave meaning to the now famous ex-
hortation. In essence, if the slogan failed to inspire, the firing squad, the knout,
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the penal battalions, and the line-following detachments would do so. "In-
trospection aside," Stalin mused, "I have not lost my touch."

Stalin signed the order, summoned his secretary A. N. Poskrebyshev to
transmit it to the General Staff, and turned to face the immense wall map
whose vivid blue and red arrows mutely recorded the progress of war. His
eyes drifted to the south of Russia, across the Donbas, along the Don River,
and into the Caucasus. Large blue arrows, annotated on the map the morn-
ing before by intense young staff officers, pierced the Don near Rostov and
at Kalach west of Stalingrad. Stalin quickly glanced up to the north where
the German front line was marked by a huge salient jutting toward Moscow
in the Rzhev and Viaz'ma regions. This grotesque and threatening legacy of
the frustrating winter battles the year before remained remarkably quiet—a
long blue line confronted by multiple red defense lines anchored to the rear
on the concentric red circles denoting the Moscow Defensive Region. As he
peered at the map, Stalin bitterly recalled that it was from this menacing sa-
lient that all the German offensive arrows were to have emanated this past
summer. Despite the ensuing defeats in the south, Stalin took solace in the
knowledge that German defeats at Moscow during the winter had at least
soured Hitler on the idea of launching another attempt to seize the Soviet
capital city.

"Now," he thought, as his eyes once again drifted south to the banks of
the Don, "we need to anoint another Soviet city with the honor and prowess
of Moscow and indelibly emblazon its name on the German psyche as a sym-
bol of even greater defeat." Stalin was convinced that fate, born of stark
geographical realities and the inexorable eastern progress of the large blue
German attack arrow across the Don River, would accord that distinction to
his namesake city, Stalingrad. Along the center of the blue arrow, a Soviet
General Staff officer had neatly inscribed in red, 6-ia Armiia (6th Army).

THUNDER IN THE NORTH

Kalinin Front Headquarters, east of Rzhev, 23 August 1942

Colonel General Ivan Stepanovich Konev, Kalinin Front commander, knew
and resented the fact that world attention was on the titanic struggle at Stalin-
grad. For over three weeks, he had been trying to alter that grim reality.
Ostensibly with the intent of drawing German attention and forces away from
the Stalingrad sector, since 1 August his forces, together with armies of the
Western Front's right flank, had been pounding German Ninth Army defenses
covering the approaches to Rzhev. The attack had been the idea of Army Gen-
eral G. K. Zhukov, the Western Front commander, and, lamented Konev,
Zhukov's armies had garnered the greatest glory in the operation. Few be-
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sides Konev knew what Zhukov's real intent had been. Simmering over his
failure to destroy German Army Group Center at Moscow in winter 1941 and
thwarted in his designs to engage German forces once again along the Mos-
cow axis in spring and summer 1942, Zhukov had bided his time while Ger-
man forces had spread across southern Russia. Now, in August, Zhukov was
once again implementing his "northern strategy," designed to crush German
Army Group Center once and for all. A month before, he had launched an
unsuccessful offensive with Western Front's left wing north of Briansk, but
that offensive had done little damage and had barely caught the attention of
the German High Command. He resolved that the new attack near Rzhev
•would do more, and it did.8

In extremely heavy fighting, Konev's 30th and 29th Armies had ground
up German forces northeast of Rzhev and advanced steadily on the city. To
the south Zhukov committed his 31st and 20th Armies, and on 6 August his
fresh 6th and 8th Tank Corps and 2d Guards Cavalry Corps joined battle and
began to exploit the lead armies' success. For three days a major tank battle
raged as German operational reserves tried to close the breech and halt the
Soviet advance. Halt it they did, but only after losing Zubtsov and falling back
to new defense lines along the Vazuza River, just east of Sychevka. The bitter
and costly operation petered out after 23 August, and although Ninth Army
held, it did so only barely. Only Konev and Zhukov knew that the August
operation at Rzhev had served a greater end, as a dress rehearsal for what
was to come. Next time the attack would be more extensive and, Zhukov
believed, would end with the destruction of the German army group.

German Ninth Army Headquarters, Sychevka, 1 September 1942

General der Panzertruppen Walter Model, Ninth Army commander, just re-
turned from convalescent leave, appreciated how close was his brush with
disaster. With German attentions focused on the south, the vicious Soviet
attack had caused immense disruption and losses in Ninth Army.9 He had
met the wave after wave of advancing Soviet infantry, tanks, and cavalry by
throwing his reinforcements into battle piecemeal. It was a hell of a way to
use armored reserves, but at least the Soviet advance had finally been brought
to a halt. Model thought bitterly of the way Hitler had dismissed the threat.
To Hitler, diversionary assaults such as this were expected in light of what
was going on further south at Stalingrad, and the obvious solution was to hold
fast until the Soviets wore themselves out. Model had responded to the crisis
and to High Command indifference in characteristically frank fashion. On
16 August, at the height of the Rzhev battle, he had informed his army group
commander, Field Marshal Guenther von Kluge: "Ninth Army is about fin-
ished and has to have three more divisions. If those could not be given, he
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said, the army group will have to take responsibility for what happened next
and 'provide detailed instructions as to how the battle is to be continued.'"10

Such an ultimatum from the man whose forces had saved Rzhev in winter
1941 could not go unheeded. The army group provided the necessary rein-
forcements and the German lines held.

"The problem was," thought Model, "that it was the German forces in the
salient that were wearing out." Already, Army Group Center had been forced
to abandon its ambitious late summer plans to eliminate the Soviet Sukhinichi
salient east of Viaz'ma. Zhukov's two summer offensives had seen to that.
Moreover, "Army Group Center had held its own through the summer—
barely."

COUNTEROFFENSIVE OF THE GODS: THE GENESIS OF
OPERATIONS MARS, URANUS, SATURN, AND JUPITER

Sixth Army Headquarters, in the Field near Kalach, 15 September 1942

Colonel General Friedrich Paulus, the tall, stately, but harried German Sixth
Army commander, had just heard encouraging reports from his staff, which
helped ease the mounting frustrations of the hectic previous days.11 His army's
LI Army Corps had reached the main Stalingrad railroad station and the banks
of the Volga River, while neighboring XXXXVIII Panzer Corps, detached from
Fourth Panzer Army, swept forward to the banks of the Volga in the south-
ern sector of the ruined city. In between were the shattered but stubborn
remnants of Soviet 62d Army, which clung to every city block and smashed
building foundation in fanatical determination to fulfill Stalin's entreaties to
stand firm in his namesake city.

Paulus reviewed the frustrating but often exhilarating events of recent
weeks as his powerful army attempted, at first alone, to fulfill Hitler's orders
to seize the key city on the Volga. In late July, his army had struck east to-
ward the Don River and, in heavy fighting, had destroyed two hastily fielded
Soviet tank armies west of Kalach on the Don. His army then drove on east-
ward through the litter of destroyed armor and seized Don River crossings at
Kalach. Faced with increasing resistance from two new Soviet armies (62d
and 64th), Hitler approved a revision to Directive 45, which ordered three
corps of Fourth Army to march on Stalingrad from the southwest in tandem
with Paulus's advancing Sixth Army. The coordinated drive, which began on
1 August, soon consumed the German High Command's attentions, since it
believed that Stalingrad was the pivotal point to which Soviet reserves would
naturally gravitate. Heavy fighting along the banks of the Don River and along
the approaches to the city confirmed the High Command's belief. As Ger-
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man forces painfully fought their way into the city, the Soviets began a drum-
beat of counteroffensives against Sixth Army's ever-extending northern flank
covering the sector between the Don and Volga rivers. The Soviet attacks
plagued Paulus as he tried to focus his attention on seizing the city while
constantly concerned for the safety of his left flank.

To assuage Paulus's concerns, the OKH allocated to him, first, the Italian
Eighth Army, which he positioned on his far left flank along the south bank
of the Don and, then, Rumanian Third Army, which permitted him to re-
place additional German troops further south along the Don. The relieved
German troops then entered the cauldron of fire that was Stalingrad. Through-
out September the struggle intensified as the Germans advanced through the
ruins of the city house by house and factory by factory, but at appalling
human cost. "True to their nature," thought Paulus, "the Soviets fed ever more
troops into the urban meat grinder in a process that would clearly cease only
once every inch of city turf had fallen to German forces." Suppressing an
almost irrepressible urge to stop the slaughter by going over to the defen-
sive, instead Paulus pushed his tiring soldiers on. Paulus's opponent, the
defender of Stalingrad, Lieutenant General V. I. Chuikov, and his bloodied
62d Army simply refused to collapse.

Paulus's subsequent impulsive announcement on 26 September that the
city's center had fallen was clearly premature and overly optimistic.12 Although
the Soviet bridgehead had dwindled in places to a matter of a few square yards,
a seemingly never-ending stream of Soviet arriving reinforcements outpaced
German losses. While pushing imperceptibly toward the river's bank, Sixth
Army was nevertheless losing a war of attrition. By 6 October, lamenting the
appalling losses, Sixth Army's war diary noted, "The occupation of the city is
not to be accomplished in such a fashion."13 The dilemma was that Hitler and
the High Command had staked virtually all on the city's seizure.

Paulus's lengthening struggle with Chuikov's stubborn defenders mesmer-
ized the German High Command. History has clearly demonstrated that Ger-
man fixation on the fighting in the city blinded them to the critical situation
along Sixth Army's extended and increasingly vulnerable flanks. As they had
a year before at Moscow, the German High Command assumed that the
issue would be resolved in the environs of the city and, as a consequence,
Stalingrad would be the destination of most, if not all, Soviet strategic reserves.
There, they assumed, the last Soviet battalions would be sent. Thus, the
Germans were neither ready nor able to cope with what befell them on 19
November, when fresh Soviet forces tore through their vulnerable flanks,
which were defended largely by Rumanians, and encircled exhausted Ger-
man Sixth Army in its target city. Less apparent to all was the utter neglect
that the German High Command accorded to other front sectors. Ironically,
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it was in the most critical of these sectors that the Soviet High Command
planned to deal the Germans their most devastating defeat in late fall and
winter 1942.

Stavka, Moscow, the Kremlin, 26 September 1942

Intense discussions had gone on for days within the Stavka among those most
influential in determining Soviet military strategy. Zhukov joined those dis-
cussions on 26 September after returning from a visit to the Stalingrad Front.
The venue and format for the discussions was customary. During the day,
key Stavka members and representatives of the General Staff met in the
General Staff building. There they assessed the military situation in various

front sectors, studied/ront commanders' proposals for future actions, calcu-
lated the relative force strengths and correlations of forces along key axes,
discussed military options, and formulated draft plans. Other General Staff
officers busily studied proposals and plans, prepared detailed estimates of the
situation, surveyed available strategic reserves, assessed manpower and equip-
ment availability and military and industrial production rates, and performed
a host of other duties necessary to harness the power of the Red Army in the
service of prospective offensive action. Late in the evening, key military fig-
ures adjourned to the Kremlin, where they met with Stalin to discuss strate-
gic options in sessions that lasted until the wee hours of the morning.

Despite the autocratic nature of the Soviet regime, and unlike the case of
Hitler and his High Command, the decision to undertake major offensives
was not taken lightly. Moreover, it involved considerable genuine debate. Re-
peated earlier defeats and the high troop death toll weighed heavily on even
the most callous leader. Even if one's conscience tolerated the death of thou-
sands of soldiers, there was the practical question of sustaining the morale
necessary for the carnage to produce battlefield victory. All clearly under-
stood that the cream of the June 1941 peacetime Red Army had perished in
the first eight months of war, and even the immense manpower base of the
Soviet Union could not sustain that process indefinitely without disastrous
results. As if to underscore the problem, merely kilometers away the first
Soviet women's rifle brigade was already forming.14

Debate was not a new phenomenon in Stavka planning circles. What was
new, however, was the degree of debate and its vigor and freshness. While
Stalin's opinion, quite naturally, had dominated discussions in earlier months,
the elusiveness of victory and the sharpness of recent catastrophic defeats
conditioned Stalin to listen more respectfully to the most capable of his mili-
tary experts. By now he had also developed a keen understanding of the
strengths, weaknesses, and personal quirks of each member of his military
entourage. Ironically, despite the harsh experiences of the first year of war,
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that entourage had changed little. Each member brought to the group unique
personal perspectives born of combat experience and valuable biases that
needed to be aired and debated in full. Now, in the fall of 1942, Stalin finally
understood that these discussions were essential for victory.

The key figures in Stalin's closest circle of advisors were Stavka mem-
bers G. K. Zhukov, 1st Deputy Minister of Defense and Deputy Supreme
High Commander, A. M. Vasilevsky, Deputy Minister of Defense and Chief
of the General Staff, and N. F. Vatutin, Deputy Chief of the General Staff
and Voronezh Front commander. Others in the General Staff, including
S. P. Ivanov, Chief of the General Staff's Operations Directorate, Stavka
representatives like Red Army Artillery Chief N. N. Voronov, and front
commanders like I. S. Konev (Western), A. I. Eremenko (Stalingrad), and
Vatutin (Voronezh and then Southwestern) also played key roles in the stra-
tegic debate.

Prior experience and the unique personalities of these key figures shaped
the debate and produced a plan for what would become the most ambitious
and comprehensive strategic offensive the Stavka and General Staff had yet
proposed. Strategic realities and the exigencies of on-going combat meant
that Stavka attention was riveted, first, on the massive German force lodged
deep in southern Russia and, second, on the still looming threat posed by
German forces in the Rzhev salient to Moscow. Reality dictated that Ger-
man forces in southern Russia be defeated and the threat to Moscow elimi-
nated. The vital question was how to accomplish this. Here, the personal
histories and biases of Stalin's entourage were key.

Army General Georgi Konstantinovich Zhukov, Stalin's premier mili-
tary advisor, had begun the war as a "southerner," conditioned by his cav-
alry training and duty in the Ukraine to appreciate the critical strategic
importance of the region.15 The former commander of the Kiev Military
District (1940) and chief of the General Staff on the eve of war, Zhukov's
prewar plans, in accordance with Stalin's desires, had given priority to stra-
tegic defenses in the Ukraine. During the terrible fighting of summer and
fall of 1941, however, Zhukov had recognized the error in his ways. As
Reserve Front commander after 30 July 1941, Zhukov's attentions shifted
to the front's central sector. There, in July and August 1941, he orchestrated
the Soviet counteroffensives around Smolensk, whose ferocity contributed,
in part, to the German High Command's decision to halt the drive on Mos-
cow and instead encircle Soviet forces defending stubbornly in the Kiev
region. Zhukov had later crossed swords with Stalin over the necessity for
defending Kiev, and when Zhukov's recommendation to abandon Kiev was
overruled, Stalin "exiled" him to Leningrad. In the disastrous October days,
after the Germans resumed their advance on Moscow, Stalin summoned
Zhukov to Moscow to help the Stavka stave off impending disaster. Com-
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manding in succession the Reserve and Western Fronts, Zhukov restored
order from confusion and was instrumental in bringing the German advance
to a halt at the gates of the Russian capital.

In close coordination with Stalin, Zhukov then organized and conducted
the December 1941 Moscow counteroffensive and, in January 1942, expanded
that offensive into a grand, although ultimately futile attempt to destroy Ger-
man Army Group Center. The glorious but frustrating Moscow episode con-
verted Zhukov into a convinced "northerner." Thereafter, Army Group Center
became his nemesis, and Zhukov remained preoccupied with the task of its
destruction. During spring 1942, when the Stavka planned for their summer
campaign, like the chief of the Red Army General Staff at that time, Marshal
B. M. Shaposhnikov, Zhukov argued strenuously that the Western Direction
was the most critical strategic axis for future operations. Supported by other
key General Staff figures and Stalin as well, Zhukov's view prevailed. All ac-
cepted the preeminent importance of the Moscow axis and concluded that
this was the axis along which German offensive operations would resume in
summer 1942.

Despite their acceptance of Zhukov's view of the threat, Stavka members
disagreed sharply as to how best to deal with it during the upcoming Sum-
mer Campaign. Unlike Shaposhnikov and Vasilevsky, who argued that the
Red Army conduct an initial strategic defense until German forces had spent
their offensive strength, Zhukov argued for a preemptive offensive against
German forces lodged in the Rzhev salient. While, at least in principle, Stalin
accepted Shaposhnikov's and Vasilevsky's defensive view, his innate impa-
tience prevailed, and he ordered limited offensive action. Rather than ap-
proving Zhukov's recommendation for limited offensive action at Rzhev,
however, Stalin approved a recommendation by Marshal S. K. Timoshenko,
the commander of the Southwestern Direction, to launch a limited offensive
in the south around Khar'kov. The Khar'kov offensive launched in May 1942
ended in bloody failure and facilitated the subsequent German offensive.

The ensuing disastrous course of events at Khar'kov and the subsequent
triumphant German march through southern Russia only served to convince
Zhukov that his assessment had been correct. In his view strategic issues would
be resolved only along the Western Direction. Throughout the summer and
early fall of 1942, while high drama unfolded in the south, Zhukov remained
in command of forces on the Western Direction, certain that the best way to
smash the Wehrmacht in southern Russia was to defeat it along the Mos-
cow axis. To this end, in July he launched a fierce but largely forgotten offen-
sive on Western Front's left wing north of Briansk. When that operation
failed, in August he struck with the joined flanks of his Kalinin and West-
ern Fronts at German forces defending Rzhev. Although the so-called
Pogoreloe-Gorodishche offensive faltered in early September, the damage
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it inflicted on German Army Group Center was considerable, and it demon-
strated the potential devastating effects that an expanded operation could have
in the future. In essence, it became a dress rehearsal for the even larger and
more decisive subsequent operation.

Chief of the Red Army General Staff Colonel General Aleksandr Mi-
khailovich Vasilevsky was arguably the Red Army's finest senior staff officer.16

Rising from colonel to colonel general in four years, Vasilevsky was Shaposh-
nikov's favorite and his heir apparent on the General Staff. His even tem-
perament and intellectual keenness balanced the sheer power, crudeness,
and even brutality of Zhukov. Throughout the war, the two made a superb
team of effective Stavka troubleshooters, representatives, and command-
ers. Neither a "northerner" nor a "southerner," Vasilevsky's strategic vision
spanned the entire front. Clearly junior to Zhukov, at this stage of the war
his view was influential but not decisive. In short, he lived with Stalin's and
Zhukov's views but tended to moderate their excesses.

Deputy chief of the General Staff and Voronezh Front commander Army
General Nikolai Fedorovich Vatutin was a superb staff officer who also proved
to be a daring troop commander.17 Gifted with strategic vision and personal
audacity and capable of working with both Zhukov and Vasilevsky, Vatutin
could easily grasp the opportunities available to the Soviets in fall 1942. Shar-
ing Zhukov's love for combat duty, by virtue of his assignment as Voronezh
Front commander and by virtue of his thirst for victory, he tended to be a
"southerner." It would not be coincidental that Vatutin would command
Southwestern Front in the Stalingrad counteroffensive.

Stalin, the grand arbiter and ultimate decisionmaker, had for months pa-
tiently listened to the views of these, his principal military advisors. He him-
self recognized the opportunities at hand and the personal prejudices of his
subordinates, and insofar as possible, he consciously harnessed the energy
and potential of those differing and competing individuals, as would become
crystal clear as the new Soviet strategic plan took shape.

Throughout September and into early October 1942, Stalin often solic-
ited the advice of his principal subordinates regarding the launch of new coun-
teroffensive action. In their memoirs, Zhukov, Vasilevsky, Army General A. I.
Eremenko (Stalingrad Front commander), Major General S. M. Shtemenko
(deputy chief of the General Staff's Operations Directorate), and others uni-
formly described the various stages of proposals, counterproposals, and nego-
tiations as the forthcoming counteroffensive took shape. They unanimously
agree that the ensuing plan for the Stalingrad counteroffensive operation
(code-named Uranus) was the product of these High Command initiatives
and that Zhukov, Vasilevsky, and a limited circle of other figures were most
responsible for the plan. Once the plan for the Stalingrad operation was de-
veloped, they agree that in mid-November new diversionary operations else-
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where along the front, and in particular at Rzhev, were added to the plan to
draw or keep German reserves away from Stalingrad.

Vasilevsky later noted in his memoirs: "After the Stavka [from 16 to 19
November] had discussed a number of issues, the operational plan and time
schedules were finally approved. Zhukov then received the assignment to pre-
pare a diversionary operation on the Kalinin and the Western Fronts. The
Stavka made me responsible for coordinating the actions of all three fronts
of the Stalingrad area while carrying out the offensive."18

Zhukov's recollection substantiated Vasilevsky1 s account when he wrote
of the November planning sessions:

Vasilevsky and I pointed out to the Supreme High Commander that, as
soon as German troops at Stalingrad and in the northern Caucasus found
themselves in a desperate spot, the Nazi High Command would be com-
pelled to transfer some of its forces from other sectors, particularly from
Vyaz'ma, to assist the southern grouping.

To prevent this, it was essential to prepare urgently and conduct an
offensive north of Vyaz'ma and, first, smash the Germans in the Rzhev
salient. We suggested using troops in the Kalinin and Western Fronts for
this operation. "That would be fine," Stalin said, "but which of you will
take charge?"

As Vasilevsky and I had already agreed on that score, I explained, "The
Stalingrad operation is completely ready. Vasilevsky can coordinate opera-
tions at Stalingrad while I take charge of the preparations for an offen-
sive by the Kalinin and Western Fronts."

Between November 20 and December 8, the planning and prepara-
tion of this operation were finalized.19

Archival and other materials flatly contradict Zhukov's retrospective ac-
count. Moreover, Zhukov's claims sharply differ from the materials found in
other memoirs and clearly reveal that Soviet key political and military figures
who were involved in the offensive planning and historians who wrote about
the operation made a major and concerted attempt to cover up what really
transpired in planning for the Soviet winter counteroffensive. These same
memoir materials and overwhelming evidence from both the German and
Soviet archives now permit us to reconstruct what really occurred in fall 1942.

Zhukov did play a significant role in those September and early October
Stavka meetings.20 More important, the decisions that Zhukov maintained
were made in the November Stavka session were likely made in late Sep-
tember and early October. Evidencing his frustration over being ignored
during the spring and the eclipse of his near success at Rzhev in August,
Zhukov argued that the Soviet Union could best achieve strategic victory by
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smashing German Army Group Center. Moreover, he argued, the amassing
of Soviet strategic reserves, which had gone on at near frenzied pace in sum-
mer 1942, would permit the Red Army to deliver two major and mutually
supporting counteroffensives: one against German Army Group Center at
Rzhev and the other against Army Group South at Stalingrad. To make
his point, during a meeting in Stalin's office, Zhukov pointed out the favor-
able correlation of forces in all front sectors, but particularly in the central
sector. Here, in the center, the combined strength of the Kalinin and West-
ern Fronts, backed up by the Moscow Defense Zone, numbered almost 1.9
million men, supported by over 24,000 guns and mortars, 3,300 tanks, and
1,100 aircraft. This, Zhukov pointed out, represented 31 percent of the man-
power, 32 percent of the artillery, almost 50 percent of the armor, and over
35 percent of the total Soviet strength, and this massive force was concen-
trated on only 17 percent of the overall front. On the other hand, the just
over 1 million men fielded by the three Soviet/rents in the Stalingrad region
had about 15,000 guns and mortars, 1,400 tanks, and just over 900 aircraft in
support.21 Admittedly, the Rumanian, Italian, and Hungarian armies in the
German entourage were more vulnerable than the Germans, and their pres-
ence in the south undoubtedly improved Soviet chances for success. But,
Zhukov argued, would it not be wiser and more productive to use the com-
bat weight of the Red Army, much of it relatively fresh, to smash once and
for all the large and arrogant German force that threatened Moscow; in
essence, to do what the Red Army had come so close to doing in the previous
winter?

Recalling the considerable damage his forces had done to German Ninth
Army several months before, Zhukov argued that, in addition to collapsing
German Army Group Center, an operation against the Rzhev salient would
inevitably also weaken German defenses in the south and condition subse-
quent success there as well. Moreover, the availability and location ofStavka
strategic reserves would enable rapid and flexible development and expan-
sion of each offensive or readjustment of offensive aims should either offen-
sive falter. Zhukov waved his arms at Stalin's large wall map and loudly recited
the imposing list of armies available to the Western and Kalinin Fronts and
the positions of vital strategic reserves. He emphasized, in particular, the im-
posing list of mechanized and tank corps available to his two fronts and the
superbly refitted tank army of Lieutenant General P. S. Rybalko, then in West-
ern Front reserve west of Kaluga. Zhukov asked Ivanov to highlight on the
map those armies still in Stavka reserve. Dutifully, Ivanov designated the large
red map circles in succession: 2d Guards Army and associated 2d Guards
Mechanized Corps in the process of forming in the Tambov region midway
between Moscow and Stalingrad; 2d Reserve Army in the Vologda region with
three rifle divisions and two rifle brigades; 3d Reserve Army near Kalinin with
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two rifle divisions and two rifle brigades; and 10th Reserve Army in the Volga
Military District.22 Although the three latter armies would not take the field
until late November and December, they would be available to support
either of the offensives. The most ready of the armies, Lieutenant General
R. la. Malinovsky's powerful 2d Guards, Zhukov pointed out, was positioned
to participate in the later stages of either operation. In addition, the Stavka
had the refitted 6th Mechanized Corps in the Moscow Defense Zone, the
fresh 7th and 24th Tank Corps in reserve in the south, as well as 2d and 23d
Tank Corps assigned to the Volga Military District near Stalingrad.

"In short," stated Zhukov, "the requisite forces are in place to conduct
two concerted strategic operations with a high probability of success." Dur-
ing the Moscow meetings, Vasilevsky and Vatutin focused their attention on
what might be done in the south, carefully reminding the assemblage of the
difficulties encountered earlier in attempts to defeat Army Group Center. In
the end, Stalin accepted Zhukov's recommendations. Although mildly criti-
cized by Zhukov in winter 1941 for mandating an offensive on too broad a
front, Stalin too still seethed over the earlier failure to defeat Army Group
Center. Thus, Zhukov's arguments for a repeat effort fell on receptive ears.

On the evening of 26 September, Stalin announced to his commanders,
"You may continue to plan your offensive. Conduct two efforts. Zhukov will
control the Rzhev operation and Vasilevsky the operation at Stalingrad." Dur-
ing the following days, the General Staff developed outline plans for two two-
phase operations, each assigned the code name of a planet (see Map 2). The
first operation, Zhukov's Operation Mars, would commence in mid-October
with the immediate objective of encircling German Ninth Army forces in the
Rzhev and Sychevka salient. Two to three weeks later, it would be followed
by an attack along the Viaz'ma axis by the Western Front's central sector
armies designed to link up with victorious forces of Operation Mars and
envelop all forces of German Army Group Center. The second phase of
Zhukov's operation was possibly code-named Jupiter. Vasilevsky's initial
operation, code-named Uranus and tentatively set for mid-November, was
designed to envelop German Sixth Army in the Stalingrad region. His sec-
ond phase, Operation Saturn, would begin in early December with the
objective of enveloping all of German Army Group B, pinning its remnants
against the Sea of Azov, and cutting off the safe withdrawal of German Army
Group A from the Caucasus.

Late on 26 September, the Stavka planners adjourned their sessions and
returned to their respective front sectors to coordinate planning with front
commanders and staffs. Zhukov traveled with Vasilevsky back to the South-
western Front to survey the latest conditions there. Zhukov was to rejoin his
Western and Kalinin Fronts on 12 October, the initial date set for the launch
of Operation Mars. However, bad weather delayed offensive preparations for
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Mars, and instead of rejoining his fronts, on 12 October Zhukov returned to
Moscow to finalize plans for the operation's first phase, now rescheduled for
28 October. Then, on 21 October, he visited Kalinin Front to finalize attack
preparations. In the meantime, the General Staff prepared preliminary
orders and dispatched them to the respective fronts.

The Stavka dispatched its initial directives for Operation Mars to its sub-
ordinate front headquarters on 28-29 September for an attack on 12 Octo-
ber. Fronts relayed the orders to their armies on 1 October (see Appendices).23

Although subsequent bad weather and delays in regrouping forces forced a
postponement of the operation, revised attack orders did not appreciably alter
the objectives contained in the original directives (see Map 3).

The revised Stavka order to the Western Front, prepared on 8 October
and dispatched to thefront on the 10th, stated: "The forces of the right wing
of the Western Front and the left wing of the Kalinin Front are to encircle

O

the enemy Rzhev Grouping, seize Rzhev, and free the railroad line from
Moscow to Velikie Luki."24 The order designated Western Front's 20th
and 31st Armies, supported on its flanks by 29th Army, to make the main
attack through German defenses along the Osuga and Vazuza rivers north
of Sychevka. Once German tactical defenses had been penetrated, a cav-
alry-mechanized group consisting of the 6th Tank and 2d Guards Cavalry
Corps was to exploit through 20th Army, capture Sychevka, roll up the
German Rzhev defenses from the south, and link up with 41st Army forces
attacking from the Belyi region in the west. Thereafter, 20th and 31st Armies
would mop up German forces in the salient in conjunction with supporting
armies while preparing a further strike with 6th Tank and the fresh 5th Tank
Corps toward Viaz'ma.

Kalinin Front forces received analogous orders. "The front was to attack
along two axes, with its main attack conducted by 41st Army forces south of
Belyi and by 22d and 39th Army forces up the Luchesa River valley and south-
ward toward Olenino, respectively.25 Stavka ordered 41st Army to spearhead
its advance south of Belyi with the crack Stalin 6th Volunteer Rifle Corps and
the heavily reinforced 1st and 2d Mechanized Corps. Once through German
defenses, the two mechanized corps were to exploit to link up with 20th Army's
mobile corps west of Sychevka, while remaining army forces blocked Ger-
man reinforcement of their beleaguered forces in the salient. The Kalinin
Front's 22d Army, spearheaded by the 3d Mechanized Corps, was to advance
eastward up the Luchesa River valley to sever the German front and roll
German forces northward into encirclement near Olenino. The front's 39th
Army, attacking in a broad sector along the Molodoi Tud River at the apex of
the Rzhev salient, was to force German defenders back to Olenino and into
certain destruction between the closing jaws of 22d and 39th Armies' attack-
ing forces. As the operation developed further, supporting Soviet armies
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around the flaming circumference of the Rzhev salient would join in the con-
flagration and complete the destruction of German Ninth Army. All would
then regroup to participate in Operation Jupiter.

Operation Jupiter would commence once destruction of Ninth Army had
been insured. Planned only in outline form before the launch of Mars, dur-
ing Jupiter Western Front's 5th and 33d Armies, heavily reinforced and de-
ployed adjacent to the Moscow—Viaz'ma road, would pierce German defenses
covering Viaz'ma. Once through the tactical defenses, Zhukov planned to
commit two tank corps (9th and 10th) to begin an operational exploitation.
For good measure, Rybalko's 3d Tank Army would join the exploitation to
ensure link-up with Kalinin Front forces in the Viaz'ma region.26

Zhukov and the Stavka lavished extraordinary armor, artillery, and engi-
neer support on the two fronts participating in Mars. Support included 31
tank brigades and 12 tank regiments, totaling 2,352 tanks, over 54 artillery
regiments, 30 guards mortar battalions, and 23 antitank regiments with al-
most 10,000 guns and mortars, and 20 separate engineer and sapper battal-
ions. This support included one of the newly fielded separate heavy guards
mortar regiments (heavy Katiushas, or "Stalin organs") and 18 separate heavy
guards mortar battalions. In fact, this support exceeded that provided to
Vasilevsky's armies earmarked to carry out Operation Uranus.

Headquarters, Western Front, 15 October 1942

Ivan Stepanovich Konev was comfortable in his new assignment.27 If com-
mand of Kalinin Front forces had been rewarding, then returning to com-
mand the prestigious Western Front was positively exhilarating. Konev had
served in and commanded Western Front before, although in difficult days
that he preferred to forget. He could not forget, however, since the trials of
summer 1941 still burned in his soul. Then he had commanded the vaunted
19th Army, raised on the eve of war in the North Caucasus Military District.
The stolid army of two rifle and one mechanized corps was supposed to have
been the strategic reserve for the critical wartime Southwestern Front. In the
chaos surrounding the launch of Barbarossa, however, Konev's once proud
army had been hastily rerouted to the central sector and had gone into battle
piecemeal west of Smolensk. Chewed up by advancing German panzer forces,
his army had scattered; some divisions perished in Smolensk, and others were
driven in confusion into hasty defenses east of Smolensk, where they helped
to stem temporarily the headlong German advance.

After Stalin dispatched Zhukov to Leningrad in September 1941, Konev
rose to command Western Front, only to see his front dismembered and
largely destroyed during the German October drive on Moscow. After two-
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thirds of his forces perished in the Viaz'ma encirclement, Konev was given
command of the Western Front's right flank remnants, now reinforced and
renamed the Kalinin Front. He commanded Kalinin Front throughout the
Moscow defense and led it during the partially successful Soviet Moscow
counteroffensive in winter. During the height of winter, his forces lost a
vicious duel (and the better part of an army) with counterattacking German
forces commanded by General Model. Konev had again crossed swords with
Model in August 1942, when Model commanded German Ninth Army. He
looked forward to doing so again, this time as Western Front commander,

After receiving command of Western Front from Zhukov on 26 August,
Konev immediately set about preparing to resume the deadly duel. Carefully
refitting his armored corps, in a 11 September directive he reconfigured his
mobile forces into the sort of coherent and powerful force that was capable
of sustaining offensive operations deep into the German defenses.28 He
formed a mobile cavalry-mechanized group combining the experienced and
blooded 6th Tank Corps with the 2d Cavalry Corps and placed it under the
command of the experienced cavalry corps commander, Major General
V. V. Kriukov. At the same time, throughout September and early October,
Konev's front staff issued a flurry of directives and orders designed to elimi-
nate the faults that had plagued front forces during the August operation.
The most important of these orders introduced new communications and
coordination procedures to smooth cooperation within front mobile forces
and between these forces and cooperating infantry, artillery, and air forces.29

Konev was proud of his assembled host. Certainly, he thought, it had never
been stronger or led by a more experienced command cadre. By 15 October
it included eleven combined-arms armies (30th, 29th, 31st, 20th, 5th, 33d,
49th, 50th, 10th, 16th, and 61st) arrayed along a front extending from Rzhev
in the north to east of Briansk in the south. It was also the strongest of all
Soviet fronts. It contained two elite guards rifle corps (5th and 8th), and its
armored nucleus counted six tank corps (3d, 5th, 6th, 8th, 9th, and 10th) and
the superbly refitted 3d Tank Army of Lieutenant General P. S. Rybalko.30

General Kriukov's 2d Guards Cavalry Corps and the famous 1st Guards Cav-
alry Corps rounded out his assembled host, together with an imposing array
of supporting artillery and engineer units provided by the Stavka (see Appen-
dices for precise Western Front order of battle).

The original Stavka directive for implementing Operation Mars on 12
October reached Konev's Western Front headquarters on 1 October 1942,
but subsequent bad weather made its implementation impossible. Therefore,
the Stavka formulated a new directive postponing the attack until 28 Octo-
ber and dispatched it to Konev on the 10th. Barely suppressing his mounting
excitement, Konev shared his hopes with his staff and ordered them to begin
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the painstaking process of planning the new offensive. Since the Stavka had
ordered detailed preparation of the first phase only, Mars became the focus
of staff work, while Konev, alone, contemplated the outlines of subsequent
Operation Jupiter. He knew too well from experience the hazards of raising
staff expectations. He had to admit, however, that he could not drive Jupiter
from his mind, despite the fact that Mars was to commence on 28 October,
a few short weeks away.

Five days later, Konev's front staff had transformed the general Stavka
concept for Operation Mars into a detailed_/ron£ concept of operations. Konev
was pleased as he read the concept provided him by Colonel General V. D.
Sokolovsky, the front chief of staff:

The main attack will be delivered by 20th Army units in the direction of
GTediakino and Kateriushka. After penetration of the tactical depth of the
enemy defenses, a cavalry-mechanized group will be introduced into the
penetration. In cooperation with the armies of the left wing of the Kalinin
Front, this group must play a decisive role in the encirclement and de-
struction of the enemy Rzhev-Sychevka grouping.

To secure success along the main attack axis in 20th Army's sector,
create a two- to threefold superiority over the enemy in manpower and
weaponry.

20th Army will deliver the main attack with four rifle divisions on its
right flank with the objective of penetrating the enemy defense along a
front from Vasel'ki through Grediakino to Prudy and seize the first and
second defensive positions along the line Maloe Petrakovo—Bol'shoe and
Maloe Kropotovo—Podosinovka, andZherebtsovo. Subsequently, the army
must reach west of the Rzhev—Sychevka railroad line. On the first day, I
propose that the cavalry-mechanized group cross to the western bank of
the Vazuza River.

On the second day, the forces of four rifle divisions must secure the
railroad line, after which three divisions will advance to the northwest and
the fourth to the southwest. Such a maneuver must create a corridor 15
to 18 kilometers wide through which the cavalry-mechanized group can
be introduced into the penetration. Subsequently, the cavalry-mechanized
group will perform the following missions:

• 6th Tank Corps will deliver a concentrated attack in the direction of
Sychevka and occupy that point in cooperation with [second echelon]
8th Guards Rifle Corps units, attacking from the northeast;

• one cavalry division will attack toward Andreevskoe to prevent the
approach of enemy reserves from the southwest and to destroy enemy
forces withdrawing from Sychevka;
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• 2d Guards Cavalry Corps (minus one division) will advance on Cherto-
lino [west of Rzhev] to sever the Rzhev-Olenino railroad line and, sub-
sequently, in cooperation with units attacking from the front, destroy
the Rzhev enemy grouping.31

Konev well understood the intense work that would be required to con-
vert the rather glib concept into a workable operational plan. Staff planners
confronted major problems. It was difficult to launch a major offensive across
a major river, even if, as Konev hoped, the river's surface was frozen. In ad-
dition, after the initial assault, the river would pose a major obstacle to for-
ward movement and a bottleneck for the forward transport of sustaining
supplies. On 20th Army's right flank, the Osuga River restricted movement
and canalized the advance into a narrow corridor. It, too, would have to be
crossed early if the offensive was to develop with requisite speed. Drawing
the boundary line between 20th and 31st Armies along the Osuga remedied
this problem to a degree, but even so, the terrain was not ideal for an attack.

Konev was also concerned about the enemy. Although German infantry
divisions were still understrength from the August battles, they were now dug
into well-prepared and fortified defenses. When his intelligence organs re-
ported that German 5th Panzer Division still stiffened German forward de-
fenses, Konev shuddered as he recalled the damage that division had done
to advancing Soviet forces in August. More ominously, somewhere to the rear
lurked other panzer forces, but intelligence did not record their strength or
precise location. Konev sincerely hoped that the concerted Soviet attack
against all sectors of the Rzhev salient would attract these dangerous reserves
elsewhere. In his heart, however, he knew he would confront his share.

Driving these thoughts from his mind, Konev left the headquarters for
his quarters, leaving his staff to do its proper job.

Headquarters, Kalinin Front, Toropets, 28 October 1942

Just over two weeks had passed since the receipt of the revised Stavka direc-
tive for renewed operations against German troops at Rzhev, and the Kalinin
Front staff was busily preparing implementing orders in the presence of
Zhukov himself. Within two days after receipt of the directive, ihefront com-
mander, Army General Maksim Alekseevich Purkaev, had presented his con-
cept of operations to his assembled staff, pointing out the extensive and
important tasks assigned the front by Zhukov and emphasizing that Zhukov
himself would likely keep close track of preparations. True to his word, for
the past week Zhukov had traveled throughout the front sector, inspecting
every detail of the offensive preparations. Zhukov had brought with him the
detailed support plans for Operation Mars, which the General Staff had pre-
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pared between 12 and 20 October. Now Zhukov had to insure that these
supporting plans concurred with the detailed plans worked out by Purkaev,
his staff, and subordinate armies and corps. He now sat beside Purkaev dis-
cussing the first major change in the plan. As usual, this change was prompted
not by the enemy but rather by the weather. Such was to be expected in a fall
offensive, particularly in the forested northern fringes of the black earth belt
of northwestern Russia. In characteristic fashion, the transition from sum-
mer to fall had been marked by frenetically changing weather. The good
conditions of early October gave way to torrential cold rains by mid-month.
The rains turned the black earth into black goo, and the roads, already
chowdered up by increased supply transports running to and fro from the
front to rear and back, simply would not tolerate further heavy traffic. The
same had occurred in Western Front's sector, and, as a consequence, Zhukov
once again sought and was granted Stavka permission to delay the onset of
operations until at least mid-November. In fact, thought Zhukov, depending
on conditions, General Vasilevsky may have to launch his forces' offensive
first.

Another reality that was not altogether unpleasant struck Zhukov. If
Vasilevsky's forces did succeed, then the Germans might weaken their cen-
tral front, thus facilitating success in Operation Mars. If he did not, the suc-
cess of Operation Mars would inevitably eclipse Uranus as well as the future
fame and fortunes of those who planned and conducted it. Unaccustomed to
accepting defeats and always confident to the extreme, Zhukov never enter-
tained the thought that it might be his forces that failed.

Sitting beside Purkaev was comforting to Zhukov. The scholarly-looking
general, who was two years older than Zhukov's forty-six years, had already
experienced grim circumstances in the war.32 His quiet demeanor of a su-
perb staff officer enabled him to weather these heavy storms without losing
his equilibrium. Before the war Purkaev had served as chief of staff in the
Belorussian Military District and then as Zhukov's chief of staff in the Kiev
Special Military District. (When war began he had been General Kirponos's
chief of staff in the same military district.) Subsequently, Purkaev had sur-
vived the disastrous encirclement and destruction of Southwestern Front at
Kiev and later rejoined Zhukov's command to lead first 60th and then 3d
Shock Armies during the Moscow counteroffensive. His performance in the
Kholm-Toropets operation in winter 1941 had earned for Purkaev command
of the Kalinin Front when Konev left the front to command Western Front
in late August. "Yes," Zhukov said to himself, "Konev and Purkaev are well
suited to my purposes."

The day before, Purkaev had presented his proposed operation plan to
Zhukov and recommended it not be changed, even in the circumstances of a
major delay. Zhukov himself admitted that the plan would be difficult for the
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front staff to orchestrate, since unlike Konev, who had to plan only one army
attack, Purkaev had to plan three. At least, thought Zhukov, Purkaev would
not be distracted by having to prepare additional armies for a subsequent
major operation. The trick, however, was to guarantee that two of Purkaev's
attacks converged on Olenino and the third deep thrust eastward progressed
sufficiently to link up with Konev's advancing forces. In addition, Zhukov
ordered Purkaev to organize a fourth offensive against an altogether sepa-
rate target, the city of Velikie Luki, located a fair distance west of the Rzhev
salient. Appreciating the perplexing problems confronting Purkaev, Zhukov
allocated Purkaev three new and powerful mechanized corps, which were
commanded by among the Red Army's most competent and most daring
armor officers, Major Generals M. D. Solomatin, M. E. Katukov, and I. P.
Korchagin. All three corps were to tear apart German defenses on the west
flank of the Rzhev salient and link up with Konev's powerful armored host
attacking from the east. Further, Zhukov directed Purkaev to employ two of
the corps in the Belyi sector and the third in a thrust up the Luchesa River
valley.

Purkaev's plan, once fully coordinated with his subordinate army com-
manders, required 41st and 22d Armies to strike against the west side of the
Rzhev salient in the sector just south of Belyi and in the Luchesa River valley
sector further north. At the same time, his 39th Army would launch an attack
along a broad front against the apex of the salient to tie down German forces
and seize Olenino (a German corps headquarters) and a key sector of the
Rzhev-Olenino railroad line. Purkaev's 41st Army, commanded by Major
General G. F. Tarasov, would commit the Stalin 6th Siberian Volunteer Rifle
Corps, consisting of one rifle division and four rifle brigades, to penetrate
German tactical defenses south of Belyi. Once through German defenses,
General Solomatin's 1st and General Korchagin's 2d Mechanized Corps would
then exploit toward Andreevskoe and Sychevka. There they would link up
with 20th Army's cavalry and tank forces to form an armored shield around
the base of the Rzhev salient and block the advance of German armor re-
serves racing to rescue their comrades encircled in the salient.33 Follow-on
army rifle forces would form an outer encirclement line with the exploiting
armor and reduce the strong-point city of Belyi, which had defied Soviet
capture in the winter offensive of 1941 and had plagued the Soviets ever since.

Further to the north, Purkaev's smaller 22d Army, commanded by Ma-
jor General V. A. lushkevich, would conduct a two-division assault against
weaker German forces defending astride the Luchesa River. Once through
the German defenses, General Katukov's 3d Mechanized Corps would ex-
ploit 22d Army's success by advancing up the river valley toward Olenino to
link up with advancing 39th Army forces. Army rifle forces would then assist
41st Army forces in reducing the German's Belyi strong point. Meanwhile,
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Major General A. I. Zygin's 39th Army would attack with four divisions south-
ward across the Molodoi Tud River, and two smaller forces would conduct a
shallow envelopment from the east and west against the very apex of the Rzhev
salient. These attacks were to propel 39th Army forces to the Olenino-Rzhev
railroad line, where they would link up with 20th Army forces at Chertolino
and 22d Army forces at Olenino.

If the attacks were properly carried out, German forces in the Rzhev sa-
lient would be struck hard from three sides, virtually simultaneously, and once
their defenses had cracked, the other Soviet armies along the periphery of
the salient (30th and 29th) would join the fray. At this point, the operation by
Kalinin Front's 3d Shock Army against German forces at Velikie Luki was
clearly only a sideshow, but a sideshow that could draw valuable German
reserves away from the focal point of the decisive battle at Rzhev.

As he prepared to return to Moscow, Zhukov was well satisfied with the
offensive preparations. He had visited with all Kalinin Front army command-
ers and had met the key commanders of the mobile forces. As always, his
sessions with Purkaev were comforting.

Stavka, Moscow, the Kremlin, 29-30 October 1942

Zhukov flew back to Moscow early on 29 October and immediately went to
the General Staff to review the latest plans for all forthcoming operations.
He noted from the General Staff copy of Vasilevsky's plan that preparations
for Operation Uranus were on schedule. Hasty briefings by a retinue of Gen-
eral Staff officers convinced him that the host of supporting plans—for artil-
lery and air support, ammunition and fuel allocation, bridging, rations, and a
multitude of other oft-forgotten items necessary to launch and sustain opera-
tions—were progressing well, despite the deplorable weather in the Kalinin
and Western Front sectors. There, Zhukov again mentally noted, it was likely
the offensive would lag further, almost certainly until after the launch date
for Uranus. His mind quickly pondered the implications and the thought
struck him that, if it succeeded, Vasilevsky's earlier attack might draw Ger-
man reserves south away from the central sector. If so, he thought, then there
might be other potential objectives within his force's grasp.

That evening, Zhukov again met with Stalin to review the results of hiso' o

trip. Stalin and Ivanov discussed with Zhukov the latest developments in the
south and the progress of Operation Uranus, whose tentative launch date was
now set for on or about 19 November. Zhukov then described Konev's and
Purkaev's plan and noted that, although both were anxious to attack, they
agreed that the delays were essential. Based on his visit to the General Staff
the day before, Zhukov now recommended that the offensive commence on
24 or 25 November to derive as much benefit as possible from the possible



Prelude 31

success of Uranus. In passing, he only mentioned that further force adjust-
ments might be called for in order to capitalize on changing circumstances.
Although not saying so directly, he was already thinking of strengthening the
Velikie Luki thrust with a mechanized corps at the expense of 41st Army's
attack. He was convinced that this minor adjustment would in no way hinder
the Belyi attack but could, on the other hand, greatly strengthen 3d Shock
Army's attack on Velikie Luki. Giving free rein to his imagination, he mused
to himself that, in the event all operations succeeded and Viaz'ma fell, it would
be useful to have a victorious mobile corps poised north of Vitebsk. After
all, in the winter counteroffensive, the ultimate Soviet objective had been
Smolensk. Now Soviet forces were far stronger, and after successful comple-
tion of Mars and Jupiter, German forces would be a shambles and far too
weak to oppose a deeper Soviet thrust. After all, it was but a short step from
Viaz'ma to Smolensk.

Zhukov consciously repressed these thoughts and, with a short oath,
sharply reproached himself. What was he doing? Had two years of frustra-
tion affected his mind? Only eight months before he had boldly rebuked Stalin
himself for establishing goals that were too ambitious. That had been per-
missible then, since Stalin's level of tolerance rose markedly as Soviet forces
pushed the German front lines westward from Moscow. Zhukov was simply
telling Stalin how greater success might have been achieved, and was that
not the duty of his principal military advisor? It was, but by the same token,
he was now ashamed for doing just what he had criticized Stalin for doing
the year before, even if he was correct.

As Zhukov left the Kremlin, he felt invigorated. He was now fully under
control, of both himself and forthcoming events. The plan was a good one
and had every prospect for achieving success. His mind, however, almost
reflexively told him, "There are other possibilities!"

German Ninth Army Headquarters, Sychevka, 30 October 1942

General Walter Model, the Ninth Army commander, was thankful for the
rain and the seas of mud that it created, despite its frightful effect on uni-
forms, boots, and equipment. Rain, he reflected, was worth several more
defense lines and perhaps even a reserve panzer division. Model was not a
philosopher, he was a fighter, and thoughts like this gave him cause for con-
cern. With a solid reputation as an energetic commander and brilliant tac-
tician and the self-assured demeanor of a traditional (and monocled) old
school Prussian officer, Model radiated confidence.34 But not in recent days.
Perhaps it was the cumulative effect of having to act in the capacity of a
Wehrmacht fire brigade leader over the past year, or perhaps his wounding
in combat several months earlier. More likely, he thought, it was the crisis of
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August, when the team of Zhukov and Konev had come close to ruining his
army and with it the remainder of Army Group Center. If only von Bock and
Paulus and the rest of the crew in the south had success. Only then would
the pressure and the suspense end here. But according to recent word, the
German juggernaut in the south had run out of steam. Paulus was actually
on the defense in the ruins of Stalingrad, and Army Group A's fine First Panzer
and Seventeenth Armies were lodged firmly and helplessly, it seemed, in the
foothills of the Caucasus Mountains. Model suppressed a laugh as the ab-
surd image flitted threw his mind of an arc filled with Wehrmacht troopers
sitting helplessly isolated on a bare Caucasus Mountain peak. What was Hitler
doing? Where was the German Army going? Where would it end?

The musing ended as Model remembered the information that had set
his mind on such a random, useless, and damaging course. Intelligence infor-
mation was unsettling at best and downright upsetting at worst. Since late
August, while all eyes were on the titanic struggle further south, the German
General Staff intelligence organization, Fremde Heere Ost (Foreign Armies
East), headed by the brilliant, energetic, and young Colonel Reinhardt Gehlen,
had generated and sent to the front an increasing number of alarming reports
of increased Soviet activity in the central front sector. Ordinarily this would
not have bothered Model, for since spring 1942 the Soviets had identified the
Moscow axis as the priority axis, and they had continued to do so throughout
June, even as German forces dashed toward the Don. Presumably, however,
subsequent events in the south had changed these priorities. Or had they?
Gehlen's reports clearly said no, they had not. Most disconcerting was the fact
that not only did these reports not accord with Hitler's strategic view, to an
increasing degree they accorded with Model's own intelligence data.

A report prepared by Gehlen's organization on 29 August predicted in-
creased offensive potential on the part of the Soviets during the forthcoming
winter. Most probably, they would use it "against Army Group Center, to
eliminate the threat to Moscow and to gain a success where the configura-
tion of the front would not overtax the tactical capabilities of the lower com-
manders."35 Although Soviet rail traffic had increased opposite Army Group
Center in September, Gehlen detected no specific attack indicators in the
region. On 15 September Gehlen admitted that, given realities in the south,
initial Soviet action would occur in that region because he estimated the
Soviets had the resources to carry out only one major offensive. In fact, wrote
Gehlen, to do so the Soviets might have to move reinforcements south, away
from Army Group Center's sector.36 That optimistic appraisal, at least from
Army Group Center's perspective, quickly faded when, on 17 September,
Fremde Heere Ost began to reverse itself by again planting the seed of a pos-
sible Soviet attack against Ninth Army. Intensified Soviet rail movement along
the flanks of the Rzhev salient prompted this estimate, whereas previous
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movement had been concentrated primarily near the salient's northeast point.
A Soviet parachute drop of 300 to 400 men on 24 September indicated height-
ened diversionary activity to disrupt German lines of communications in the
region. On 1 October the Soviets commenced long-range artillery fire on
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German rail and highway installations near Osuga, within artillery range just
west of the Vazuza River.37

By October Soviet troop movements adjacent to and outside the salient
prompted Gehlen to conclude,"The Russian forces assembling around Ninth
Army were battle forces."38 On the other hand, clear and extensive Russian
defensive measures around Rzhev proper forestalled an intelligence predic-
tion of an imminent attack. While some German military leaders, including
General Alfred Jodl, the head of the Armed Forces Staff (OKW), conceded
that a limited Soviet attack was possible against the base of the Rzhev salient,
by mid-October Gehlen concluded an attack was probable against the cen-
ter and left wing of Army Group Center, in both Third Panzer and Ninth
Army's sectors.

These conflicting national-level assessments provided context for infor-
mation Model received from his own intelligence organs and substantially
increased its importance. Ninth Army's Ic (chief of the intelligence branch)
was Colonel Georg Buntrock, who has been described as "a small, wiry
infantryman who had come from a divisional la [operations] post in the
Crimea."39 A novice in the realm of intelligence work, he understood that
success at Ninth Army could pave the way for critical operational assignment
elsewhere. He later noted, "I was surprised to observe and experience how
this branch succeeded in unveiling the hidden image of the enemy situation."40

Relying on internal army intelligence collection assets, which included
front-line reports, POW information, raid and patrol reports, army aerial
reconnaissance, radio intercept, some espionage, and artillery observation.
Buntrock lacked the resources and broad perspective available to higher
commands. Nevertheless, his information tended to be fresher, and it was
useful to juxtapose it against higher-level estimates. Although, admittedly, as
in all sectors, natural tunnel vision tended to heighten concerns at lower com-
mand levels, by late October national estimates tended to confirm Buntrock's
local assessments. In short, Ninth Army was increasingly convinced it was a
preeminent Soviet target.

On 29 October Buntrock prepared a comprehensive intelligence assess-
ment, showed it to Model, and in early evening dispatched it by teletype to
Army Group headquarters in Smolensk. Agreeing with Fremde Heere Ost's
assessment of two weeks before, Buntrock concluded: "The enemy would
mount a major offensive against the Ninth Army, striking both the east and
west faces of the [Rzhev] trapezoid. . . . The objective was to break into the
trapezoid from both sides, encircle the troops in it, annihilate the Ninth Army,
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crack open the front, destroy Army Group Center, and seal this victory by
advancing in triumph to recapture Smolensk."41

Unbeknownst to Buntrock, his brief assessment captured the full extent
of Soviet intent, ironically, even Zhukov's imaginative musings. Buntrock's
and Model's problem now was to determine when, precisely where, and in
what strength the offensive would materialize. Even more important, they
had to convince the High Command that the threat was genuine. Buntrock
worked strenuously to address the first problem. It was Model's role to do
the latter and to prepare his army for the attack when it came.

As Model calmly reflected on Buntrock's predictions, he catalogued the
measures he himself could undertake to thwart Soviet offensive plans. If
Buntrock was correct, reasoned Model, the attack was not imminent and was,
perhaps, weeks away. While Soviet attack preparations appeared near comple-
tion in the east, in the •west they lagged, probably thrown awry by the recent
heavy rains. Model, having operated extensively in the region almost a year
before, well knew how the rains could paralyze troop movements. How then
could he use this time to his best advantage to avoid the problem that had
beset Ninth Army in August?

Model mentally reviewed his army's dispositions. His own former XXXIX
Panzer Corps defended the most vulnerable sector in the east along the Vazuza
and Osuga rivers, where Soviet forces had ended their August offensive.
There, three German infantry divisions (102d, 337th, and 78th) defended
along with 5th Panzer Division, backed up by 9th Panzer Division in opera-
tional reserve west of Sychevka. To the north, XXVII Army Corps defended
the sector from just west of Rzhev to Osuga with six infantry divisions (256th,
87th, 129th, 254th, 72d, and 95th). To the corps' rear, 14th Motorized Divi-
sion was in reserve north of the Rzhev—Olenino railroad line and Chertolino.
XXIII Army Corps defended the apex of the salient with three infantry divi-
sions (110th, 253d, and 206th) deployed from the Luchesa River southwest
of Olenino to the Volga River west of Rzhev, backed up by the heavy Gross-
deutschland Motorized Division, which occupied reserve positions from the
Olenino region southward toward Belyi. Completing Ninth Army defenses
in the Rzhev salient, Model's XXXXI Panzer Corps defended from the base
of the salient southwest of Belyi to the Luchesa River with three infantry
divisions (the shaky 2d Luftwaffe Field Division, 246th, and 86th). The SS
Cavalry Division occupied positions to the rear of the corps' left flank.42

Model faced a twofold dilemma as he contemplated defense of the sa-
lient. First, he had to position forces within the salient conducive to the best
defense. This meant positioning his mobile reserves so that they could have
the greatest effect. He was satisfied with present reserve dispositions. Every
sector had available mobile reserves, and 1st Panzer Division was in army
reserve, centrally located at the base of the salient and capable of responding
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to crises in both east and west. Moreover, the 12th, 20th, and 19th Panzer
Divisions were available from Army Group Center to call upon if needed,
unless, of course, they were called away for use in other sectors.

The more serious dilemma was Model's capacity for coping with simulta-
neous enemy action against the vast extent of his army's front. In addition to
defending the salient, his army was also responsible for defending the sector
extending westward to Velikie Luki. His Gruppe (Group) von der Chevallerie,
named for the commander of LIX Army Corps, defended at Velikie Luki,
and two weaker corps, the II Luftwaffe Field Corps (with 2d and 3d Luftwaffe
Field Divisions) and VI Army Corps (with the 205th and 330th Infantries,
and 7th Luftwaffe Field Divisions), defended the long front through Velizh
north of Vitebsk and Smolensk, between Velikie Luki and the Rzhev salient.
If Ninth Army concentrated too much of its attention and resources on the
defense of the Rzhev salient and Velikie Luki and lost either, the entire front
could collapse like a house of cards. The road to Smolensk would then be
wide open.

As Model thought through the possibilities and perils of his situation, he
was relieved that Buntrock's assessment had accorded him more precious
time. He prayed that Buntrock was correct.

XXXIX Panzer Corps Headquarters, Nastasino, 7-8 November 1942

General Hans-Jurgen von Arnim's corps' headquarters was located in a pic-
turesque Russian village in relatively open farm country near the large farm
village of Glinnoe on the banks of the Vazuza River near that river's junction
with the Kasnia River. Only seven kilometers from the Vazuza front, the loca-
tion offered good access to roads from the front to army headquarters in
Sychevka and good communications with German forces defending the critical
and most threatened corps' sector, which extended twenty kilometers north-
ward through rolling farm country along the west bank of the Vazuza River.
In this broad sector, the headquarters of von Arnim's defending divisions,
regiments, and battalions were lodged in the multitude of sturdy farm vil-
lages that dotted the region.

Von Arnim, former commander of 17th Panzer Division in 1941 and the
commander who six months later would surrender German forces to the Allies
in North Africa, shared Model's concerns about Soviet intentions. In fact,
information received in the past week had only heightened his concerns.
Although the Soviet commands employed smoke screens and the cover of
night to conceal their movements, German air reconnaissance had detected
Soviet troop columns in up to battalion strength marching to the front oppo-
site XXXIX Panzer Corps. Soon prisoners taken by German raiding parties
reported increased movement of artillery into the region, including the 1165th
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Gun Artillery Regiment, transferred southward from Rzhev into 31st Army's
sector. This report, received from the 102d Infantry Division Ic, Captain Dr.
Friedrich Lange, into whose sector the artillery moved, highlighted a series
of similarly alarming reports from this division.43

The 102d Infantry Division occupied defenses astride the Osuga River
on XXXIX Panzer Corps' and 5th Panzer Division's left flank. Its rightmost
regiment, the 195th, occupied the most vulnerable sector located between
the Osuga and Vazuza rivers, and divisional headquarters was on the Osuga's
left bank overlooking German and Soviet forward positions in the 195th
Regiment's sector. Lange's concern over Soviet artillery reinforcement in-
creased on 5 November, when, for the first time, incoming Soviet artillery
fire included new caliber weapons and salvoes fromKatiusha multiple rocket
launchers. The latter were most frequently used to prepare for or support
offensives. Further analysis indicated that Soviet artillery strength opposite
the 102d had doubled in recent weeks.

The reports from the 102d Infantry Division paralleled similar reports
from adjacent divisions and, in particular, from 5th Panzer, and numerous
reports from POWs seized from along the front during intensified Soviet
reconnaissance activities pointed to likely Soviet action on 7 November, which
was Red Army Day. During the night of 5-6 November, the 102d Infantry
Division repelled a Soviet raiding party supported by several tanks. The next
day, traffic opposite the corps' front increased. Reconnaissance detected 800
to 1,000 men reinforcing Soviet positions near Rzhev, a smaller number were
sighted moving up along the Vazuza, and radio intercepts hinted at immi-
nent offensive action. Faced with these new indicators, German intelligence
organs reached differing conclusions. Buntrock at Ninth Army considered
them to be continuing indications of a future Soviet offensive. Lange, on the
other hand, was sure an attack was imminent, although not yet of an "opera-
tional semi-strategic scale."44

November 7 arrived, and despite the ominous indicators, relative quiet
still reigned along the front, punctuated only by desultory artillery fire. That
day, however, the 102d Division picked up a forty-three-year-old deserter
from the Soviet 88th Rifle Division's 426th Rifle Regiment who informed
them of plans for a major Russian attack toward Rzhev and Sychevka. This
news was not overly alarming, however, since the deserter was ignorant of
the precise attack date, and his division had been in the sector for some
time.

Late that evening, at twenty minutes before midnight, as if to shake the
Germans from their relative complacency, the Soviets commenced a terrible
storm of artillery against the 102d Division's positions. The rain of steel and
explosives went on for two hours, and then German artillery struck back at
the offending artillery and at what German forward observers reported were
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assembling hordes of Red Army infantry. The storm nevertheless passed, and
the bright sunlight of the next morning showed nothing but the calm of a
stagnant front.

With their frayed nerves salved and the night's tension relieved, von Armin,
like his army commander in Sychevka, reflected on Gehlen's most recent
intelligence estimate, freshly released on 6 November. This estimate of the
prospects confronting Army Group Center, which supplemented his normal
daily report, contained a fascinating dispatch purported to have come from
Germany's famous master spy against the Soviets, who was code-named MAX:

On 4 November war council in Moscow presided over by Stalin. Present:
12 marshals and generals. In this war council, the following principles were
set down: (a) Careful advance in all operations to avoid heavy losses; . . .
(f) Carrying out all planned offensive undertakings, if possible before 15
November, insofar as the weather situation permits, Mainly: from Grozny
[out of the Caucasus] . . . in the Don area at Voronezh; at Rzhev; south of
Lake Ilmen and Leningrad [presumably meaning the Toropets region].
The troops for the front will be taken out of the reserves.45

Whether or not MAX was a legitimate source, Gehlen accorded consider-
able credence to the report since it reinforced his own general theory. Whether
or not by coincidence, although no Soviet sources speak of a November Krem-
lin meeting, and both Zhukov and Vasilevsky record that they were in the field,
the contents of MAX's report regarding Soviet offensive intent was strikingly
compatible with the actual Soviet strategic plan. A meeting of this sort did occur
in the Kremlin sometime during the last two days of October.

Emboldened by MAX's report, Gehlen began his 6 November estimate
stating, "Before the German east front, the point of main effort of the com-
ing operations looms with increasing distinctness in the area of Army Group
Center." Hedging his bet somewhat, he added that it was unclear whether
the Russians would have sufficient forces to conduct an offensive against Army
Group B as well. Even so, he noted, "The enemy's attack preparations in the
south are not so far advanced that one must reckon with a major operation
here in the near future simultaneously with the expected offensive against
Army Group Center." Gehlen cited a number of incentives for such a Soviet
approach, including the political and military need for a quick and major
success, "which the enemy believes he can obtain better at Army Group
Center than at Army Group B"; "the greater advantages for assembly and
jumping-off points offered by the configuration of the Army Group Center
front; and the possibility of destroying Army Group Center and cutting off
German forces to the north contrasted with the greater difficulties and lesser
exploitation possibilities of the southern operation."46
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Addressing specific likely Soviet actions against the Rzhev salient, Gehlen
described "simultaneous enveloping attacks . . . to dislodge and destroy the
northeastward jutting block of Army Group Center," including a major thrust
to the southwest and Sychevka through the eastern face of the salient. He
explained the apparent inconsistencies in his estimate by admitting that, as
had often been the case before, the Soviets could probably muster more troops
for the offensive than anticipated by the Germans. Unknown to Gehlen, his
estimate was remarkably accurate. So also was his added comment that "the
Russians had often set goals too distant for the forces they used."47 The com-
ment described Zhukov to a tee. Where Gehlen did err, however, was in
underestimating the power of the southern strategic thrust.

In fact, within days, decisions were taken in Moscow to realize Gehlen's
estimate.

Stavka, Moscow, the Kremlin, 13 November 1942

With their inspection trips to the front concluded, on the evening of 12 No-
vember Zhukov and Vasilevsky returned to Moscow. The following morn-
ing, they met with Stalin and the State Defense Committee to present their
final plans, make last-minute modifications to force concentrations, and set
the exact attack dates. After extended discussions of Vasilevsky's plan, Stalin
accepted Vasilevsky's recommendation that Vatutin's Southwestern Front
commence its offensive on 19 November and Eremenko's Stalingrad Front
do so twenty-four hours later. Depending on the success of Operation Ura-
nus, the follow-on Operation Saturn could begin close to the originally planned
date of 10 December. Vasilevsky then asked Stalin for prompt release of 2d
Guards Army and its associated 2d Mechanized Corps from Stavka reserve
so that it could reach the Stalingrad region in time to participate in Opera-
tion Saturn. Stalin replied, "Let's wait to hear what Georgi Konstantinovich
has to say."

Zhukov then reported on the situation in Kalinin and Western Fronts'
sectors. Confirming the continued need for the already approved delay, he
said that the onset of colder weather now permitted Operation Mars to begin
on 24 or 25 November. "In reality," said Zhukov, "this should work to our
advantage. If Uranus achieves quick success, the Germans are likely to begin
shifting armored reserves from Army Group Center's sector to the south
immediately, since it takes at least ten days to effect the move. If this is the
case, German forces will be weakened to the extent that the operation will
require fewer troops than I originally supposed. I can now adjust my troop
concentrations to achieve still more." At this point, Zhukov recommended
the change in plans he had been thinking about since his last visit to Moscow
at the end of October. Specifically, he requested permission to transfer Gen-
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eral Korchagin's 2d Mechanized Corps from 41st Army to 3d Shock Army
control. Rather than participating in the two-corps thrust on Sychevka from
the west, Korchagin's corps would exploit the attack on Velikie Luki and, just
perhaps, later spearhead a southerly joint drive by 3d Shock, 4th Shock, and
43d Army on Smolensk.

To justify this proposed change, Zhukov cited the likely weakening of
German armored reserves, the limited extent of the axis south of Belyi, which
he declared could not accommodate two full mechanized corps operating
abreast, and the capability of Solomatin's mechanized corps to do the job,
if properly reinforced. This Zhukov said he would do by adding two addi-
tional mechanized brigades and, perhaps, another separate tank brigade to
Solomatin's force. Zhukov exuded a confidence that impressed Stalin. He had
not seen him so animated since the discussions on the eve of the Moscow
winter offensive. Moreover, Stalin himself was inclined to agree with Zhukov,
since he also ached to end things once and for all in the central sector of the
front. He was also inwardly pleased by the healthy competition that was ap-
parent as Vasilevsky and Zhukov presented their complementary, yet com-
peting, plans.

To Vasilevsky's barely perceptible displeasure, Zhukov then added, "In
the event Uranus fails, we will still be in a good position to succeed in Mars,
but only if you [Stalin] maintain 2d Guards Army and other reinforcing
mobile corps in positions from which they can move to my support." Vasilevsky
knew this meant leaving 2d Guards Army at Tambov. When Stalin agreed,
Vasilevsky knew that he would have to carry out Operation Uranus with only
the forces he had at hand. Characteristically, he did not mention his options
should Zhukov's plan fail.

Stalin ended the session by approving both Vasilevsky's and Zhukov's plans
and the timetable for forthcoming operations. He also gave Zhukov permis-
sion to make the required modifications to his force configuration. Before
leaving the room, Zhukov had Ivanov notify Purkaev to begin immediate
movement of Korchagin's 2d Mechanized Corps to its new assembly areas
east of Velikie Luki. The following morning, both Zhukov and Vasilevsky
returned to the field to check attack preparations with their front and army
commanders.

XXXIX Panzer Corps Headquarters, Nastasino, 13 November 1942

An eerie quiet hung over the German front lines along the Vazuza River as
corps staff officers met with General von Arnim for their daily staff update.
The lull that had embraced the front since the violent artillery exchange late
on 7 November had persisted, and the assembled officers were both relieved
and perplexed. The simple urge for self-preservation prompted the feeling



40 Zhukov's Greatest Defeat

of relief. Yet they knew from past experience that sooner or later the heavens
would fill with a rain of projectiles, the earth would shake violently around
them, and they would hear the menacing grinding of tank treads accompa-
nied by a chorus of guttural "Hurrahs" from hordes of advancing Soviet troops.
Inevitably, many would not live to see the next day. The tension was almost
unbearable.

All still placed great faith in German intelligence predictions, and they
well understood that the rains, which had begun in mid-October, had immo-
bilized the Soviets and put off the inevitable. But, they asked themselves, how
long would the respite last? Along the Ninth Army perimeter, Russian activ-
ity had virtually ceased. Artillery fire slackened, scouting and raids ended, as
did the forward movement of new units. Old units continued to occupy their
sectors, and Soviet radio transmissions used the old familiar call signs. The
continuing flow of deserters reported heightened defensive activity in their
ranks, and Soviet aircraft vigorously opposed German reconnaissance flights.

Through this impenetrable veil, German intelligence detected a curious
mixture of menacing and comforting data. Some troop movements were
detected, usually at night, but the glaring headlights of Russian vehicles, as
often as not, headed from front to rear as well as from rear to front. MAX
reported the arrival of 110 new tanks in Soviet 20th Army's sector across the
Vazuza River, and later, two fresh Russian divisions had arrived in this and
other critical sectors. The 102d Infantry Division reported the arrival of an
estimated twenty-two new Soviet artillery batteries by 10 November, and
Lange reasoned that the proportion of artillery to infantry was far too low.
Either the guns were dummies, or the increased artillery presaged the immi-
nent arrival of even more infantry.48

By 13 November, careful and painstaking German radio intercepts had
detected five new Russia army headquarters, three around Moscow and two
northeast of Rzhev. How many of these were new and how many had already
been in these locations could not, however, be determined. Two of these
armies were the 29th, which had disappeared from Kalinin Front's order of
battle a month before, and the 3d Tank Army, which had last been detected
during the Soviet attack north of Briansk in July. Another army, tentatively
identified as "Reserve," was 2d Guards in the Tambov region. Radio inter-
cepts also identified the new 6th "Stalin" Rifle Corps west of Belyi and ten-
tatively located several new mechanized formations in the Kalinin Front.
Front-line reports, however, confirmed that the Russian order of battle along
the front remained static.49

The XXXIX Panzer Corps situation map, which the assembled officers
studied, showed some confusing changes in Soviet troop concentrations oppo-
site the corps defending along the Vazuza River and in other sectors of the
Rzhev salient. The corps Ic reviewed these changes. As of 1 November, he
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reported, the Soviet 88th, 251st, and 331st Rifle Divisions opposed the 102d
Infantry and 5th Panzer Division along the Osuga and Vazuza river fronts,
backed up by the 326th Rifle Division in reserve. By 13 November the 326th
had withdrawn, and the heaviest troop concentrations were against the Ger-
man sector south of Zubtsov, well north of XXXIX Panzer Corps' defenses
and opposite the corps' right flank 78th Infantry Division, which defended
in the Gzhat River sector. These concentrations did not portend an immedi-
ate attack along the Vazuza front. A survey of other key sectors showed the
same picture. There were no concentrations consistent with an impending
attack, although a tank corps, tentatively identified as the 1st, was detected
west of Belyi, and a 3d Tank Corps was identified in Soviet 22d Army's rear
area opposite the Luchesa River valley.50 As a precaution, several days be-
fore, Ninth Army had ordered 1st Panzer Division to begin movement from
the Sychevka area to Vladimirskoe, southwest of Belyi, to serve as XXXXI
Panzer Corps reserve.

The staff meeting adjourned without alleviating the pent-up tension, and
the commanders and officers returned to their command posts. There, with
their troops, they patiently awaited the judgment of fate and the gods.

Stavka, Moscow, the Kremlin, 17-19 November 1942

Late on 16 November, Zhukov flew back to Moscow from the south. In his
capacity as deputy supreme commander, during the past week he had in-
tensely studied every aspect of forthcoming Operation Uranus with Vasilevsky
and all of his front and army commanders. Traveling by air and road, his
visits had spanned hundreds of kilometers across the immense region of
the counteroffensive from Novaia Kalitva on the Don River in 1st Guards
Army's sector to 51st Army's sector in the dry salt lakes and steppes south of
Stalingrad, where the flames of combat still smoldered. Although Zhukov's
thoughts were still on the north and Mars, he was, after all, deputy supreme
high commander, and by virtue ofthat fact, Uranus was his operation as well
as Vasilevsky's.

Vasilevsky, he conceded, had planned well. But then he always did. The
twin Soviet main attacks north and south of the city would strike fragile
Rumanian forces, and Zhukov recalled how Rumanian forces had performed
during the siege of Odessa, which now seemed ages ago. Then, fresh Ger-
man forces had had to bail the Rumanians out. Today, fresh German forces
were unavailable to do so. The once vaunted German Sixth Army was still
enmeshed in the Stalingrad fighting. It had failed to seize the city, and its
failure to accomplish such a critical mission, Zhukov reasoned, should have
sapped its will, just as the city fighting had undoubtedly sapped its strength.
German operational reserves were threadbare, and new reserves would have
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to come from First Panzer Army, then overextended deep in the Caucasus,
or from Army Group Center, far to the north. Should Uranus succeed, it would
do so quickly, and German reserves shifted from other sectors would arrive
too late to restore the situation. In fact, thought Zhukov, there is a very real
chance that the Germans will face the worst of circumstances, with reserves
on the road unable to affect either operation. Yes! Zhukov concluded, the
code names chosen for the operations were apt. The gods, the Bolshevik
general admitted, should smile down on Soviet arms.

The next day Zhukov met in the Kremlin with Vasilevsky, the State De-
fense Committee, and Stalin. With all attack preparations virtually completed,
the meeting's only purpose was to gain Stalin's final approval for the guns to
sound less than forty-eight hours later. The discussions were perfunctory and
brief. The General Staff, front and army staffs, and service and branch com-
manders had worked out the myriad of details associated with the massive
operations. Now all that was required was the word "go" from Stalin. Attack
orders would then be passed down through division, regiment, battalion,
company, and finally, in the final hours before the attack, to the common
tankist, artilleryman, sapper, and infantryman. Zhukov knew that, despite the
draconian security measures and the extensive efforts to conceal the attack,
officers and men alike, however low on the chain of command, would have
sensed the approach of battle. The soldier's instinct was a powerful force.
Officers and soldiers alike, they were all survivors, and survivors inevitably
knew; they felt the approach of battle. Ironically, thought Zhukov, that will
to survive actually drove them on, for victory would provide their only hope
of ultimate survival.

Stalin calmly uttered the fateful word his commanders awaited. Vasilev-
sky's attack would commence as planned on 19 and 20 November, and
Zhukov's forces would join the fray less than a week later. There was little
emotion in Stalin's words. What emotion he possessed had been drained from
his being in 1941. He understood he could launch immense legions into com-
bat. As before, those legions could succeed or fail, and hundreds of thousands
could perish in the process. Stalin did understand power and the costs and
consequences of unleashing military force. He had developed an acute ap-
preciation of consequence and, because of it, an immense tolerance of cost.
After all, these operations were transitional, and whether they succeeded or
failed, others would follow. The end was clear. The power of the Soviet state
and its military instrument was mightier than that of Germany. Whatever
occurred in Operations Uranus and Mars, that was reality, and in the end
reality would prevail.

Zhukov remained in Moscow after the Kremlin meeting. Stalin had not
required it, but Zhukov wanted to be with the Stavka and General Staff when
Vasilevsky's blow fell. He knew that the first hours of an offensive often indi-
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cated success or failure, and the nerve center of the Soviet military machine
was the best place to make that judgment. Thereafter, he could return to his
troops at Rzhev.

Early the following morning, Zhukov joined with anxious officers in the
General Staff to await the first word of Vasilevsky's progress. Promptly at 0720
hours, on the requisite signal Ogon' (fire), and on time, thousands of tubes of
Soviet artillery, mortars, and multiple rocket launchers opened a rain of fire
on Rumanian and German defensive positions. The fire lasted for one hour
and twenty minutes and was followed at 0848 hours by a final two-minute
volley. Promptly at 0850 hours, as the artillery lifted into the depth of the
enemy defenses, the infantry and infantry support tanks of Vatutin's 5th Tank
and 21st Armies began their assault on enemy forward defenses. In his mind,
Zhukov could imagine the imposing scene, and he silently wished that he were
present. Be patient, he told himself, your turn will come.

The reports came in at an agonizingly slow pace. The first reports made
it clear that, although light fog over the field of battle had obscured targets
from artillery observers, the sheer weight of fire made up for its inexactness.
The rain of fire plowed up huge furrows in the enemy's defensive positions
and vaporized dug-in enemy strong points, killing their occupants and ter-
rorizing soldiers in neighboring positions that had not been struck. The fog
also covered the advance of the massed infantry and tanks from enemy ob-
servation and the talons of dreaded enemy assault aircraft. Although opposi-
tion was heavy, by mid-morning the reports confirmed that Rumanian forward
defenses were crumbling, and General P. L. Romanenko, the 5th Tank Army
commander, had asked Vatutin for permission to commit his two tank corps
to combat. Vatutin assented, and at around 1300 hours, the 1st and 26th Tank
Corps went into action. They tore through remaining Rumanian defenses and
by late afternoon had advanced 16 kilometers into the Rumanians' operational
rear area. After them marched the cavalrymen of 8th Cavalry Corps, while to
the rear Soviet infantry mopped up the shattered remnants of the defending
Rumanian force.

When Zhukov left the General Staff in late afternoon, it was apparent to
him that Vasilevsky's forces had recorded an auspicious beginning. The key
question, thought Zhukov, was whether there were any German reserves
behind the Rumanian positions and, if so, how many? Soon, Zhukov was
en route by air to his Kalinin Front headquarters.

Headquarters, Kalinin Front, Toropets, 19-20 November 1942

When Zhukov arrived at Purkaev's headquarters in mid-evening, he shared
with Purkaev the favorable initial news from Stalingrad. Still animated over
the day's events, he immediately asked Purkaev and his staff to brief him on
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the forthcoming operations. The comprehensive briefings, which lasted over
three hours, covered all front plans, including the attack on Velikie Luki.
Zhukov was especially attentive to the 3d Shock Army attack, and he inter-
rupted the briefing to ask whether 2d Mechanized Corps had as yet carried
out its new order to move westward and support Galitsky (K. N. Galitsky
commanded 3d Shock Army). Purkaev answered that the corps was en route
and added that, as Zhukov had requested, he had assigned two additional
mechanized brigades, the 47th and 48th, to cooperate with Solomatin's 2d
Mechanized Corps at Belyi.

Zhukov listened to the remainder of the briefings in relative silence, in-
terrupting only to advise this or that minor alteration. At the end of the ses-
sion, close to midnight, Zhukov approved all of the plans. Before he retired,
however, he read the latest dispatches from the Stalingrad region, but they
said little more than what he had known in early evening.

Army Group Center Headquarters, Smolensk, 21 November 1942

Field Marshal Guenther von Kluge, the commander of German Army Group
Center, seethed with apprehension. At no time during his long service on the
Eastern Front had events seemed so foreboding. Von Kluge, commander of
Fourth Army during the 1941 drive on Moscow, had succeeded to command
of the Army Group in mid-December during the darkest days of crisis, when
Hitler had replaced his predecessor, Fedor von Bock, for indecisiveness.
Hitler's orders were to stand fast before Moscow, and at tremendous sacri-
fice, von Kluge and his hard-pressed troops had done so. The Soviet tide had
receded, and the crisis had passed. Since the winter, von Kluge's forces had
whittled away at the patchwork of Soviet salients in the German lines, which
stood as monuments to that great Soviet winter offensive. By early summer, as
Army Group South plunged toward Stalingrad, most of the pesky Soviet salients
in Army Group Center's sector had been reduced, and von Kluge was plan-
ning to straighten the front one last time east of Viaz'ma in time to capitalize on
Army Group South's victory in the south with his own renewed attack on
Moscow. Instead, in mid-summer he had to contend with a series of vicious
local Soviet offensives, capped by Zhukov's major August assault on Rzhev.

The latest bulletin from OKH was potentially devastating in its conse-
quences. Not only had Army Group South been halted and forced to go over
to the defense at Stalingrad, the Soviets themselves, contrary to intelligence
predictions, had also launched a massive offensive only two days before, and
the news was already ominous. Von Kluge read the dispatch, catching only
key phrases as he thought of his own plight. "Rumanian defenses shattered
north and south of Stalingrad," "Russian armor advancing deep toward the
Don," "XXXXVIII Panzer Corps' single 22d Panzer Division heavily engaged
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north of Oblivskaia," "Russian armor advancing unchecked through the open
steppes southwest of Stalingrad," and "No further reinforcements available
to halt the Soviet advance in light of heavy Soviet attacks in the area of
Stalingad proper." Disaster piled on disaster in this supposedly secondary
sector. What then did the Soviets contemplate for his Army Group? From
intelligence reports, Von Kluge knew that Zhukov was not in command in
the south. Instead, he led the forces opposite Army Group Center, while
another Russian gathered the laurels for what was going on in the Stalingrad
region. Von Kluge had sparred with Zhukov since the bitter battles at lartsevo
and El'nia in summer 1941. His experiences there and at Moscow during the
winter had made it abundantly clear to von Kluge that where Zhukov com-
manded was where the action would be. Without hesitation, von Kluge al-
most audibly uttered the word "Rzhev."

As defeat loomed in the south, the tremors could be felt in Smolensk. OKH
had queried the Army Group staff about possible movement of reserves from
the central sector to the south should the crisis there worsen. The Army Group
staff, backed by von Kluge, objected, noting the already well-established threat
in their sector. "If we could barely hold in August," said von Kluge, "what
shall we do in November or December without critical operational reserves?"
For the time being, the queries remained just queries. Von Kluge, however,
did not have to remind Model and his other army commanders of the peril,
for they too had read the dispatches from the south. All again searched through
intelligence data for telltale indicators of an offensive and reviewed their
defense plans with grim determination.

ON THE EVE

Western Front Forward Command Post, Korshikovo,
23 November 1942

The forward command post of General Konev's Western Front was ideally
situated,51 nestled in light woods on the outskirts of a small village almost ten
kilometers east of 20th Army headquarters at Pesochnia and twenty-three
kilometers east of the Vazuza front. Forested terrain dominated the landscape
forward of the command post (CP) up to about five kilometers from the river,
where farmland spread from the river's bank and the forests provided ideal
cover for movement to and from the CP from the front. The CP was exactly
twenty kilometers south of the major railroad and road junction at Pogoreloe-
Gorodishche on the main Moscow—Rzhev railroad and highway, the princi-
pal supply umbilicals for Western Front forces.

Konev was pleased with how the weather now seemed to be cooperating.
After struggling since mid-October with crippling mud, in early November
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the cold harbinger of winter began to arrive.52 A series of weak cold fronts
passed south from the Baltic Sea, solidifying much of the mud. Then, on 13
November, there was a major cold snap, marked by temperatures in the low
twenties and cold crisp air. The ground quickly dried or froze, and vehicular
movement improved, permitting the necessary force and supply buildup
to resume. It would now be possible, concluded Konev, to meet the mid-
November attack date. How timely it would be! The latest reports from
Stalingrad indicated that Vasilevsky's armored columns would almost certainly
link up west of the city and encircle German Sixth Army. That, in turn, would
create ideal circumstances for the Rzhev assault. Like Zhukov, Konev was
sure that the Germans, who were never tardy in reacting to military exigen-
cies, would quickly begin dispatching their armored reserves south. Konev
noted that there were already reports from 20th Army intelligence that Ger-
man 5th Panzer Division might be withdrawing from the positions along the
Vazuza front that they had occupied since September. If so, it would vastly
improve his chances for success, for panzer divisions were far more formi-
dable obstacles than infantry divisions.

Konev could not dwell long on these distractions. There was too much at
hand to preoccupy him. His staff was in the final stages of coordinating at-
tack preparations within his subordinate armies. The task was imposing, and
he insisted on personally checking every detail. The attack plan itself was
complete, and specific formations had replaced the generic designations in
the original offensive concept. Major Generals N. I. Kiriukhin and V. S.
Polenov, the 20th and 31st Army commanders, had designated the nine rifle
divisions that would attack from the Osuga bridgehead, across the Vazuza
River, and through the narrow neck of land between the two rivers.53 These
divisions were regrouping into new jumping-off positions just to the rear, while
smaller divisional elements simulated defense in the front lines themselves.
Meanwhile, second echelon forces of Major General F. D. Zakharov's 8th
Guards Rifle Corps, and the Moscow 1st Guards Motorized Rifle Division
and the two mobile corps of Major General V. V. Kriukov's Cavalry-Mechanized
Group were assembling east of the river. Most of the supporting artillery had
already moved into positions from which it could support the assault, but the
supply of these units with requisite ammunition was still under way.

On 18 November artillery forces had conducted fire registration under
the guise of harassing fires along the entire front south of Zubtsovto conceal
the fact that registration was going on. Two days later forward rifle divisions
began conducting reconnaissances-in-force, raids, and "searches" to deter-
mine last-minute changes in German tactical dispositions and to complement
an even broader observation effort to refine artillery targeting. This also took
place along a broad front and also out of sector to conceal the ultimate loca-
tions of the assault.
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It was an overwhelmingly complex task, thought Konev, to launch a suc-
cessful attack with such a mighty host; the least error could compromise the
plans and produce disaster. That was why operational security and the de-
ception plan were so vital. Security had improved immensely in the past year,
even if it had required ruthlessness and men's lives to convey this message to
commanders, staffs, and the troops. As a result, no longer did forces routinely
violate light discipline and stringent restraints on day movement. Now any
force movement required the specific approval of the army chief of staff.
Communications discipline had also improved, to a far greater degree than
before. Officers encoded their messages or observed complete radio silence.
This had enormous benefit, for disciplined communications permitted use
of signals for deceptive purposes, especially if the Germans routinely expected
to exploit lax Soviet communications procedures. Konev smiled to himself as
he thought of recent Soviet attempts to use communications to portray the
assembly of nonexistent armies north of Rzhev and south of the Vazuza front.
He wondered silently whether this attempt to deceive the Germans about
intended Soviet attack axes had actually worked. He hoped the reported
movement of German 1st and 5th Panzer Divisions was southward, for if it
was, they had taken the bait.

The front 's carefully worked out deception plan incorporated the premise
that the Germans expected an offensive against the Rzhev salient.54 They did
not know, however, the time and precise location of the assaults. Konev's plan,
therefore, sought to conceal the time of the attack and the main attack direc-
tions. The weather had assisted in this planning. It was reasonable for the
Germans to assume that a Soviet attack at Rzhev would precede any Stalingrad
venture because Rzhev was a likely Soviet priority objective and because an
assault at Rzhev would distract German attention and reserves from the south.
However, when the Rzhev attack did not occur and, instead, a major Soviet
effort materialized in the south, the Germans, who congenitally underesti-
mated Soviet strength and, hence, probably credited the Soviets with the
ability of carrying out only one major effort, would naturally assume this ef-
fort was in the south. In these circumstances, reasoned Konev, the Germans
were likely to consider any attack at Rzhev to be a diversion and would be
more inclined to dispatch reserves south to deal with the greater crisis.

Diversion or not, Stalingrad would distract the German's attention from
Rzhev and make it more difficult for the Germans to determine the time of
attack. The recurring Soviet artillery raids, periodic deliberate violations of
movement discipline, communications lapses, and staggered series of recon-
naissances in force were designed to increase German uncertainty. At the
same time, Konev sought to conceal the true location of his thrusts once they
materialized by simulating force attack concentrations in the north at the apex
of the Rzhev salient, south of Zubtsov on the direct rail and road routes to
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Rzhev, and south of the Vazuza front. Geography had dictated that Konev's
front play the primary role in deception planning. It had been difficult, thought
Konev, but the task was now complete, and he had every reason to presume
it would succeed.

Konev's meeting with Kiriukhin and Polenov ended by midday. With the
details of 20th and 31st Armies' attacks worked out and approved, Konev met
briefly with Major Generals E. P. Zhuravlev and V. la. Kolpakchi, the com-
manders of 29th and 30th Armies, respectively, whose forces were to deliver
supporting attacks. Zhuravlev's army, which had recently regrouped from the
Kalinin Front, had received fresh divisions and had the mission of covering
20th Army's southern flank along the Gzhat River, south of the Vazuza front.
He had been, and was, heavily engaged in the deception effort by simulating
concentration and attack preparations by his 82d and 415th Rifle Divisions
within the small bridgehead across the Gzhat River south of the Vazuza front.
When, but not before, 20th and 31st Armies' advancing forces reached the
Rzhev-Sychevka railroad line and threatened Sychevka itself, Zhuravlev's
army was to attack toward the city.

Kolpakchi's 30th Army, on Konev's left flank facing Rzhev, was also to
posture offensively but to hold off until 20th and 31st Armies on its left and
39th Army on its right had achieved initial success. Thereafter, 30th Army
was to join the attack from its bridgehead south of the Volga west of Rzhev to
unite with the 39th Army thrust and link up with 20th and 31st Armies' ex-
ploiting forces near Chertolino on the Rzhev—Olenino railroad. It then had
the task, with 31st Army, of reducing German forces encircled in Rzhev.
Polenov's 31st Army was to feint an attack south of Zubtsov, join with 20th
Army to smash German defenses along the Osuga and Vazuza rivers, and then
assist 30th Army in the reduction of Rzhev (see the Appendices for precise
31st and 20th Army objectives).

Days before, Konev had visited all army headquarters in his front 's cen-
tral sector opposite Viaz'ma and reserve forces assembling well to the rear.
These forces were not participating directly in Operation Mars, but their
critical role in the subsequent Operation Jupiter made it imperative they be
kept informed of ongoing planning. They could then coordinate their prepa-
ratory measures for the follow-on operation, which were already well under
way.

The Jupiter commanders, Colonel General la. T. Cherednichenko of 5th
Army and Colonel General V. N. Gordov of 33d Army, were both "leaning
forward in their foxholes" in anticipation of the forthcoming operation. In
October 1942 Zhukov had appointed them to command in these critical sec-
tors and to spearhead the final and decisive stage of his operation because
of their extensive combat experience and maturity.55 Konev agreed and also
welcomed the prospective participation in Operation Jupiter of the Red
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Army's most experienced armor commander, Lieutenant General P. S.
Rybalko. Rybalko's 3d Tank Army had been blooded in heavy fighting near
Bolkhov under Briansk Front control in July and August.56 Although unsuc-
cessful (and even clumsy) in that operation, the army had gained immensely
valuable experience, and now, fully refitted, rested, and reinforced, it camped
fitfully west of Kaluga under Western Front control. What a magnificent sight
it would be, mused Konev, when Rybalko's tanks rolled into Viaz'ma, an ob-
jective that had eluded Soviet capture for over a year. The city of Viaz'ma, as
much as the existence of Army Group Center, personified Soviet frustration.
Yes! Rybalko was the appropriate man to take the city.

As enticing as this image was, however, Konev knew that its realization
remained a dream, one whose fulfillment could now be imagined, but a dream
nevertheless. In his command post on the evening of 23 November 1942,
Konev resolved to pursue that dream with all the forces and energy at his
disposal.

Headquarters, 20th Army, Pesochnia, 24 November 1942

Less than twenty-four hours remained until the gods would unleash their fury
over German positions along the Vazuza. With his offensive preparations
nearing completion, Major General N. I. Kiriukhin, 20th Army commander,
talked quietly with his chief of staff and Commissar A. A. Lobachev as they
stared at the large-scale operations map on the command post wall. As the
map indicated, planning was complete (see Map 4). On it the army staff had
carefully calculated in large black boxes the correlation of opposing forces in
each offensive sector. The indices boded well. In manpower, 20th Army's
115,000 men outnumbered their German foes by a ratio of better than three
to one.57 In armor, the number was even more favorable, and in artillery the
ratio was overwhelming. Somehow, Kiriukhin was not comforted. He had seen
similar ratios before, and time and time again experience had demonstrated
that numbers were not everything. However, today, he told himself, we are '
better prepared than ever before.

Despite the comforting numbers, weather was again on Kiriukhin's and
Lobachev's minds. Another cold front had approached, and heavy, snow-laden
clouds hung ominously over the Vazuza River valley. The temperature was
minus five degrees Celsius. The fields and forests eastward from the river
were covered with a thin coating of snow that made the deep dark mud of
recent days only a memory. The new burst of cold air meant that the worst
fears of a new thaw would not be realized. It also meant, however, that the
November clouds, snow, and fog would shroud the river valley across which
the infantry and armor would advance and conceal the myriad of German
defensive positions that would contest their advance.



Map 4. Dispositions on 24 November 1942: the Sychevka Sector


